Wilfrid Laurier University Scholars Commons @ Laurier

Theses and Dissertations (Comprehensive)

2016

What Lies Past Remission: The Perceived Late Effects of Pediatric Cancer

Monica L. Molinaro Wilfrid Laurier University, moli6260@mylaurier.ca

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholars.wlu.ca/etd

Part of the Kinesiology Commons, Oncology Commons, and the Pediatrics Commons

Recommended Citation

Molinaro, Monica L., "What Lies Past Remission: The Perceived Late Effects of Pediatric Cancer" (2016). *Theses and Dissertations (Comprehensive)*. 1824. https://scholars.wlu.ca/etd/1824

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholars Commons @ Laurier. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations (Comprehensive) by an authorized administrator of Scholars Commons @ Laurier. For more information, please contact scholarscommons@wlu.ca.

by

Monica L. Molinaro

Wilfrid Laurier University, 2016

THESIS

Submitted to the Department of Kinesiology and Physical Education

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for

Master of Science in Kinesiology

Wilfrid Laurier University

© Monica L. Molinaro, 2016

Acknowledgements

I never truly understood the phrase "put your heart and soul into it" until I began this research. It consumes you. It becomes so personal – your participants have trusted you with stories of one of the most difficult times of their lives, in the hopes that your work can help and inspire others.

I never would have been able to do this without the help of my supervisor, Dr. Paula Fletcher. She makes me strive for an eighth of the compassion that she has. Without her unwavering support and belief in me, I could never have taken on and completed research of this scope. The infinite number of hours she dedicated to reading, editing, and listening to all things academic and personal are the reason why this document exists, and why I'd like to believe that after these last two years, I have become a much, much better person. You're the best, Paula.

To my advisory committee, Drs. Michael Cinelli and Robb Travers – thank you for sharing with me your perspectives and stories. Your support, patience, and willingness to help me in any way you could throughout the progression of my research was tremendously appreciated, and I am beyond grateful. Thank you for being so confident in me.

To my parents, family and friends – thank you for your unconditional patience and love. Thank you for listening to me for countless hours about how stressed, confused, or tired I was, and for never making me feel ridiculous for feeling that way. Thank you for always motivating me to be my best, when I may have been acting like the worst. I can't thank you enough, ever.

And, lastly, to my participants – a paragraph on an acknowledgements page will never be enough to thank you for sharing with me your stories, positivity, and love for life. You are some of the bravest, kindhearted, and passionate people I have ever met. Over the last two years, this became my heart and soul - I hope my words do yours justice.

Abstract

Objective

Pediatric cancer survival rates are increasing (Childhood Cancer Canada Foundation, 2011) and with this, so are the late effects of pediatric cancer (Oeffinger et al., 2006). This research examines the lived experiences of the perceived long-term effects of pediatric cancer on adult survivors and their primary support persons in order to understand the multifaceted nature of the illness on adults, and how it affects others close to them.

Methods

The theoretical orientation used to guide the research was phenomenology in order to present an accurate depiction of all the participants' lived experiences. Specifically, background questionnaires were administered and one-on-one semi-structured interviews were completed and transcribed verbatim for subsequent data analysis. Field notes, member checks, and triangulation were used to enhance the credibility of the study.

Results

From the analysis four themes emerged: (1) "There wasn't a lot of time to sit and think.": The Pediatric Cancer Experience, (2) "There is no before cancer...there's only cancer."; (3) "I don't know if I would change it."; and (4) "As long as you need me I'm yours.". All participants recognized that there were both negative and positive aspects to life after a pediatric cancer experience.

Conclusions

Overall, this study provides knowledge on how undergoing pediatric cancer changes survivors, subsequently affecting them and their primary support persons for their lives. Their stories can provide strength and comfort for individuals undergoing, or caring for an individual undergoing a pediatric cancer diagnosis and treatment.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 1: Review of the literature

1.1 Introduction	1
1.2 Magnitude of Problem	2
1.3 Treatment	4
1.4 Short-Term Effects of Cancer Treatment on Children	5
1.5 Long-Term Effects of Cancer Treatment on Children	6
1.6 The Familial Perspective	14
1.7 Short Term Familial Effects	15
1.8 Negative Long-Term Effects	16
1.9 Positive Long-Term Effects	19
1.10 Research Purpose	22

Chapter 2: Methodology

2.1 Participants	. 23
2.2 Research Tools	
2.3 Trustworthiness: Credibility, Transferability, and Confirmability	. 29
2.4 Data Treatment.	. 31

Chapter 3: Results

3.1 Introduction to Participants	34
3.2 Themes	38
3.3 "There wasn't a lot of time to sit and think.": The Pediatric Cancer Experience	40
3.4 "There is no before cancerthere's only cancer."	45
3.5 "I don't know if I would change it."	59
3.6 "As long as you need me I'm yours."	
3.7" Summary	

Chapter 4: Discussion

4.1 Comparison to Previous Literature	. 75
4.2 Limitations	. 85
4.3 Implications	. 86
4.4 Future Directions	
4.5 Conclusion	. 90

References and Appendices

References	
Appendix A	
Appendix B	
Appendix C	
Appendix D	
Appendix E	
Appendix F	
Appendix G	
rr	

CHAPTER 1: REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

1.1 INTRODUCTION

Pediatric cancer, while uncommon, is a devastating illness for children and their families. The impact of cancer and its treatment are overwhelming - the effects are multifaceted and felt by the entire family unit throughout the diagnosis and treatment process. Survival rates have increased (Childhood Cancer Canada Foundation, 2011; Canadian Cancer Society, 2008; Oeffinger et al., 2006; Yi et al., 2014); however, the increased rates of survival have led to increases in the late effects of cancer treatment (Dieluweit et al., 2010; Geenen et al., 2007; Oeffinger et al., 2006; Yi et al., 2014). Research has begun to address the severity of the late effects of cancer, such as growth issues and infertility (Geenen et al., 2007, Yi et al., 2014), on the pediatric cancer survivor and family members, yet gaps in the literature exist. This research examines the lived experiences of the perceived long-term effects of pediatric cancer on the adult survivor and their primary support person in order to understand the multifaceted nature of the illness on the adult, as well as others close to them. To fulfill this purpose, the methodology being used is qualitative in nature, as qualitative methods allow for a more holistic understanding of a particular experience or phenomenon (Patton, 2002). Specifically, the theoretical approach chosen was phenomenology. To truly convey the nature of the phenomenon, interviews were conducted with both individuals who had pediatric cancer, as well as their primary support persons. These interviews allowed for a widely encompassing perspective into understanding how late effects may affect survivors of pediatric cancer. Implications for this research include the development of support services and networks for individuals with pediatric cancer and their families for what to expect past remission.

1.2 MAGNITUDE OF PROBLEM

1.2.1 Definition

Pediatric cancer, otherwise referred to as childhood cancer (American Society of Clinical Oncology, 2014; Childhood Cancer Canada Foundation, 2011; Oeffinger et al., 2006; Yi et al., 2014) is a term used to describe a multitude of cancers or tumors that occur in children (Buka, 2009). Depending on the type of literature, the term *pediatric* is used to identify individuals between the ages of 0 to 14 (Bray, 2009; Buka, 2009; Canadian Cancer Society, 2008; Canadian Cancer Society, 2014; Childhood Cancer Canada Foundation, 2011; Dockerty, Skegg, and Williams, 2003), and the term adolescent is used to describe individuals between the ages of 15 to 19 (American Society of Clinical Oncology, 2014; Bray, 2009; Buka, 2009; Canadian Cancer Society, 2008). However, often in the literature, the term *pediatric* may encompass both children and adolescents (Bray, 2009; Buka, 2009; Canadian Cancer Society, 2008; Nolan et al., 2014; Yi et al., 2014). Adolescents, while still receiving treatment and medical consultations at pediatricspecialized centers and hospitals, can also be assisted by non-pediatric oncologists because they are in critical development stages in their lives (American Society of Clinical Oncology, 2014; Oeffinger et al., 2006; Yi et al., 2014). In this paper, the term *pediatric* will refer to individuals aged 0 to 19 unless otherwise specified. This is because Canadian and American cancer databases and literature have recently begun referring to pediatric cancer as the amalgamation of the child and adolescent age groups (Canadian Institutes of Health Research, 2014; National Cancer Institute, 2015; Public Health Agency of Canada, 2013).

1.2.2 Pediatric Cancer Statistics

Worldwide, 160,000 cases of childhood cancer are diagnosed per year, and pediatric cancer accounts for approximately 90,000 deaths per year of children under the age of 15 (Buka,

2009). In Canada, roughly 1500 cases of childhood cancer are diagnosed each year (Childhood Cancer Canada Foundation, 2011), and that number has remained relatively constant since 1985 (Canadian Cancer Society, 2008). Childhood cancer accounts for less than 1% of all cancers diagnosed in Canada (Canadian Cancer Society, 2015). In the year 2014, there were 160 total deaths due to cancer of individuals between the ages of 0 to 19 (85 for males and 75 for females) (Canadian Cancer Society, 2014). However, it is important to note that pediatric cancer currently has a five-year survival rate of 80% (Childhood Cancer Canada Foundation, 2011; Yi et al., 2014). Morbidity from pediatric cancer is the lowest it has ever been, yet, it still accounts for the highest number of deaths of individuals between the ages of 0 to 19 in Canada per year – greater than the number of deaths of children from asthma, cystic fibrosis, diabetes, and AIDS combined (Childhood Cancer Canada Foundation, 2011).

1.2.3 How pediatric cancer differs from adult cancers

There are multiple forms of childhood cancers. Those that are commonly diagnosed in children differ from adult cancers in where they originate in the body, as well as the way they grow (American Society of Clinical Oncology, 2014; Canadian Cancer Society, 2008). It has been shown that different forms of leukemia (particularly lymphoid and acute myeloid leukemia), as well as tumors in the brain, nervous and lymphatic system, kidneys, muscles, and bones are the most common forms of cancer in children (Buka, 2009; Childhood Cancer Canada Foundation, 2011). The tumors found in children are generally more aggressive than those in adults, as they have shorter development times and metastasize to other parts of the body very quickly – potentially due to genetic mutations that lead to un-controlled and un-differentiated cell growth (Canadian Cancer Society, 2008; Canadian Cancer Society, 2014; National Cancer

Institute, 2015). However, due to the infrequency of occurrence of childhood cancer, it is difficult to determine the precise cause.

Almost all childhood cancers (75-90%) have no known cause. Very few cases of childhood cancers can be attributed to genetic factors (between 5-15%) and even less so to environmental and external factors (<5-10%) (Buka, 2009). What is known about the prevalence of childhood cancer is that children aged 0 to 4 years have the highest incidence of cancer, and that for every female diagnosed, there are 1.2 males who have been diagnosed (Canadian Cancer Society, 2008). Pediatric cancer treatment is dependent on the type of cancer.

1.3 TREATMENT

1.3.1 Treatment Types and Methods

There are three commonly known methods of treating pediatric cancer that can be used separately or in conjunction with one another, depending on the type of cancer that is diagnosed (Canadian Cancer Society, 2008; Childhood Cancer Canada Foundation, 2011; Miller, 2002). First, there is surgery, which is used to completely or partially remove tumors, as well as complete biopsies to determine the type of treatment to be used. Surgery is most commonly used in conjunction with other treatments, as surgery alone often cannot remove entire tumors or cancers that have spread to different parts of the body (Childhood Cancer Canada Foundation, 2011). The next, and most commonly known type of pediatric cancer treatment is chemotherapy, which is the use of a single drug or combination of drugs to kill cancer cells either orally or, more commonly, intravenously (Childhood Cancer Foundation of Canada, 2011; Miller, 2002). Depending on the type of cancer and severity of the diagnosis, the frequency and dosage of chemotherapy differs for all children (Childhood Cancer Canada Foundation, 2011; Canadian Cancer Society, 2008). Lastly, radiation therapy, or radiotherapy, is a series of radiation rays

targeted at specific cancer sites in the body to eliminate or stop rapidly growing cells. It is often used alone but can also be used in conjunction with chemotherapy or surgery depending on the type of cancer diagnosed (Canadian Cancer Society, 2008; Childhood Cancer Canada Foundation, 2011). Once the particular type of treatment is chosen, the length of treatment will also be determined.

1.3.2 Stages of Treatment

Treatment length is dependent on a myriad of factors and can last from months to years; however, all children diagnosed go through the same three stages of treatment: (1) induction, (2) maintenance/remission, and (3) completion of therapy. Induction is known as the intensive stage of therapy. The aim of this stage is to kill as many cancer cells in as short of a time as possible by administering many bouts of treatment. The maintenance stage occurs when no cancer cells are present, or when children are in remission, and includes maintenance therapies that are not as intensive as those used in induction. Once maintenance therapy has ended, children are in the completion stage, meaning that they are considered healthy but still must go for regular check ups with their general practitioner or pediatrician (Childhood Cancer Foundation Canada, 2011). In Canada, if children remain healthy and in remission for five years, they are considered "cancer free" (Canadian Cancer Society, 2008; Childhood Cancer Canada Foundation, 2011). However, treatment and remission do not go without their short- and long-term effects. These effects will be addressed in the next sections.

1.4 SHORT-TERM EFFECTS OF CANCER TREATMENT ON CHILDREN

1.4.1 Signs and Symptoms

While undergoing treatment, children may experience short-term cancer effects that may last throughout the period of treatment, as well as a few months after the treatment. These effects may eventually disappear. Short-term cancer effects may occur at the onset of treatment and may include alopecia (also known as hair loss), aches and pains all over the body, bleeding, seizures, increased sun sensitivity, increased anxiety and heightened emotional response to otherwise "normal" situations, swelling of the face, nausea and vomiting, weight loss or gain, and fatigue (Canadian Cancer Society, 2008; Childhood Cancer Canada Foundation, 2011; Miller, 2002). While these effects typically disappear once treatment is complete, other effects may appear years after. These effects will be discussed in the subsequent sections, including the effects the family unit endures during and post-treatment.

1.5 LONG-TERM EFFECTS OF CANCER TREATMENT ON CHILDREN

1.5.1 Definition

While much care and research has been invested in ensuring the survival of children and adolescents diagnosed with cancer, recent literature now includes the effects of cancer posttreatment and during remission (see, for example, Hudson et al., 2007; Wilson et al., 2014). With higher rates of survival and the greater effectiveness of treatment, it is especially important to place emphasis on the long-term effects of having pediatric cancer, as many of these effects appear later in life due to the treatment methods employed (Bray, 2009; Canadian Cancer Society, 2008; Dieluweit et al., 2010; Geenen et al., 2007; Oeffinger et al., 2006, Yi et al., 2014). These long-term effects are commonly referred to as *late effects*, and are described as "problems that develop after the completion of cancer treatment" (Canadian Cancer Society, 2008, p.62). It is imperative to understand that the late effects of pediatric cancer may not only affect the particular system or location of the body that was treated, but may also affect multiple organs, systems, and functional capabilities (Canadian Cancer Society, 2008; Geenen et al., 2007; Yi et al., 2014). The effects of treatment can also occur at varying times in children's lifetimes, although it is known that the effects from radiation and chemotherapy treatment typically become apparent several years after treatment for both children and adults alike (Canadian Cancer Society, 2008).

1.5.2 Review of the Current Literature On Long-Term (Late) Effects of Pediatric Cancer

In a study conducted by Oeffinger et al. (2006), chronic health conditions of 10,397 pediatric cancer survivors and 3034 siblings of pediatric cancer survivors in the United States were observed (more detail can be observed in Appendix A). This study was the first of its kind and used data from the Childhood Cancer Survivorship Survey, which observed longitudinal effects of pediatric cancer. The purpose of this study was twofold: (1) to determine the chronic health effects of cancer survivors versus otherwise typically developing members of the population, and (2) to determine the incidence of late effects in males compared to females, as well as the frequency of developing particular health conditions based on the type of cancer diagnosed and treatment administered. Participants aged 18 to 48, who were treated for their cancers between the years of 1970 and 1986, were included within the study and self-reported all results. For a comprehensive summary of all methodologies, explanations of the methodologies and results of this study (and subsequent studies examined) please refer to Appendix A.

The researchers defined chronic health conditions as "physical health conditions, including their age at the onset of the condition" (Oeffinger et al., 2006, p.1574-75), as well as any secondary cancers that were diagnosed as a result of treatment from the original cancer. To further understand the severity of the conditions listed (there were 137 effects itemized – an extensive but incomplete list), the Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (version 3) was used, with conditions being ranked as grades 1 to 5, corresponding to the severity of each condition (refer to Appendix A). Some of the health conditions listed were congestive heart failure, second malignant neoplasms, blindness or loss of an eye, ovarian failure, coronary heart disease, and cardiovascular accidents (Oeffinger et al., 2006).

While some chronic health conditions were expected in survivors of pediatric cancer, the results displayed a higher prevalence of issues than what was expected. Oeffinger et al. (2006) stated that out of all the survivors surveyed, 62.3% (or 6482 participants) had self-reported they had at least one chronic health condition, 37.6% (3905 participants) had two, and 23.8% (2470 participants) had three - all conditions attributed to having cancer as children. Twenty-seven and a half percent of those participants reported their condition(s) were of a severe or lifethreatening/disabling nature. It was also found that those who had received chemotherapy or radiation therapy as children were more likely to develop any and/or more than one condition. As well, female survivors of childhood cancer were one and a half times more likely to have a condition deemed grade three (severe) or higher, and were also more likely than male survivors to have any condition at all. Sixty-seven percent of participants were diagnosed with at least one chronic health condition 25 years after diagnosis and 38.5% with multiple conditions 35 years after diagnosis. In comparison to their siblings, survivors of pediatric cancer were eight times more likely to develop a chronic health condition. The authors concluded that pediatric cancer survivors were more likely to have compromised health with age and were more likely to develop one or more physical health conditions as a result of their pediatric cancer than the general population. Once again, for the purposes of this study, any late effects were only those that were physical in nature (Oeffinger et al., 2006).

In a study conducted by Yi et al. (2014) in Korea, late effects were used to refer to any perceived physical and mental health problems and/or functioning issues. Like Oeffinger's study (2006), the data collected were the "perceived late effects", meaning that much of the data was

not verified by physicians, but rather self-reported by the participants. The participants in this study were between 15 to 39 years of age, with a mean age of 21.9 years. The sample size consisted of 225 participants (131 males and 93 females), a sample less than the Oeffinger et al. (2006) study. This was possibly due to the stigma associated with having cancer in Korea, as there was "a culture where talking about cancer is taboo" (Yi et al., 2014, p.146).

Similar to Oeffinger's study (2006), Yi et al. (2014) observed that 73.1% of participants reported having a minimum of one health issue. Interestingly, participants cited growth issues (58.3%), chronic fatigue (35.6%), learning and memory issues (25.8%), and weak bones (22.7%) as their primary issues. Individuals who displayed a higher incidence of these outcomes were more likely to display a lower level of physical functioning than survivors without those outcomes. As well, participants who described having chronic fatigue and learning or memory issues had a higher incidence of having lower mental health function scores than other participants. Also similar to Oeffinger's work (2006), females had more adverse health effects and additionally had poorer mental functioning. It was also found that females were more likely to have one or more adverse health conditions the longer the period of time since diagnosis. For more information pertaining to this study, refer to Appendix A.

Geenen et al. (2007) conducted a study of similar nature, with 1362 five-year cancer survivors (745 male and 617 female) that were treated in the Netherlands between 1966 and 1996. Similar to the previous two studies, the purpose was also to understand the long-term physical effects of pediatric cancer on survivors. Differing from Oeffinger's research (2006), participants were medically assessed at a post-oncology treatment facility to determine their long-term effects, as opposed to self-reporting their conditions. However, as completed in Oeffinger's study (2006), physicians were asked to rank the severity of their patients' long-term effects. Geenen et al. (2007) discovered that only 19.8% of survivors had no long-term effects, 59.0% had more than one effect, and 24.6% of survivors had five or more effects – a total of 83.6% of survivors having more than one physical effect. By the time the study was concluded, 3.2% (or 41 participants) had died due to an adverse health effect resulting from their cancer. Unlike previous work, this particular study reported a total of 3751 different long-term health effects, of which the most common health effects that were experienced were "orthopedic disorders (14.2%), second tumors (11.9%), obesity (9.4%), fertility disorders (8.9%), psychosocial or cognitive disorders (7.9%), neurologic disorders (7.7%), and endocrine disorders (5.3%)" (Geenen et al., 2007, p.2708).

In contrast with Oeffinger's results, Geenen et al. (2007) stated that survivors who were treated with radiotherapy were at a higher risk of having late effects. Surprisingly, those treated with solely chemotherapy or solely surgery were less likely to experience late effects. As well, similarly with previously mentioned literature (Oeffinger et al., 2006; Yi et al., 2014), females were more likely than males to develop any sort of health condition, in addition to a condition with a higher severity rating. As well, female survivors had higher risks of fatigue and exhaustion, and, unlike the previous literature (Oeffinger et al., 2006; Yi et al., 2014), at the time of study, many of the female participants were taking oral contraceptives, so it was difficult to determine if any fertility issues were meaningful (Geenen et al., 2007).

Geenen et al. (2007) also found that of all of the late effects that were listed, survivors ranked psychosocial and mental effects with the highest severity. However, at no point in the study did researchers list what psychosocial and mental effects encompassed, so it was difficult to determine exactly how survivors were affected (for more detail about this study, refer to Appendix A). While all of the previous studies have discussed physical long-term effects, one particular study by Dieluweit et al. (2010) studied solely psychological behaviours of adolescent cancer survivors and compared their stages of development with a typically developing population of adolescents. Adult pediatric cancer survivors (n=820; 402 males and 418 females aged 20 to 46) completed questionnaires regarding their perceived psychosocial and mental health behaviours, whereas the control population (matched to the survivors; n=820, mean age 30.4, 409 males and 411 females) had previously participated in the German Socio-Economic Panel Study (G-SOEP), a longitudinal survey conducted by interview in German households. The reason behind using the G-SOEP questionnaire was due to the overlap with the questions asked of the pediatric cancer survivors.

Dieluweit et al.'s (2010) statistically significant results revealed a distinct difference in some behaviours of the survivor versus control populations. First, it was shown that the cancer survivor population was delayed in their psychosexual development compared to controls, and that female cancer survivors scored lower in psychosexual development than any other population, namely male cancer survivors and the control group. Additionally, survivors who were treated with radiotherapy scored much lower on the psychosexual development scale than all others. Further, the younger survivors were more likely to be in long-term relationships compared to controls, whereas older-aged survivors were less likely to be in long-term relationships than the rest of the population. However, researchers did not state which age groups pertained to "younger" and "older" survivors. Also, it is important to note that the proportion of survivors who were married or had children was significantly lower than the control population. That said, cancer survivors were more likely to get married and have children later in life as compared to controls. Researchers speculated that these results were due to the

belief that pediatric cancer survivors were delayed in their social and emotional development. This could potentially be attributed to the fact that many of the participants were undergoing cancer treatment during their most integral developmental ages. Emotional and relationship development may have occurred later in survivors compared to their peers because development may not have begun until they were in the remission phase. Although this work sheds light on the social and emotional development of pediatric cancer survivors, further research is warranted.

Lastly, regarding some sex-specific traits, Dieluweit et al. (2010) stated that male survivors were the most likely to still be living at home with their parents, and female survivors expressed the highest interest in having children. Of the survivors, 119 self-reported being infertile, of which 49 were female. Of the 49 females who were infertile, 44.6% expressed the desire to have children. This study provided useful knowledge in understanding that the late effects of pediatric cancer are multifaceted and not entirely physical in nature. For further detail regarding this study, see Appendix A.

1.5.3 Gaps in the Current Literature

While the aforementioned research provides some understanding of the late effects of pediatric cancer, the research did not cover all aspects of survivorship and contained clear limitations. First, the number of participants varied in size, making comparisons difficult between studies (e.g., n=10,397, Oeffinger et al., 2006; n=225, Yi et al., 2014). Further, each study was from a different geographical region: Korea (Yi et al., 2014), the United States (Oeffinger et al., 2006), the Netherlands (Geenen et al., 2007), and Germany (Dieluweit et al., 2010) and it was difficult to determine whether culture played a role in these studies.

Additionally, some studies primarily focused on the physical long-term effects of pediatric cancer and did not address the social, psychosocial, or mental effects of cancer. For example, researchers stated that participants experienced certain social or mental effects, but did not provide details as to what they had specifically experienced or to what degree of severity they were experiencing these effects (Oeffinger et al., 2006, Yi et al, 2014, Geenen et al., 2007).

Additionally, the health conditions examined varied between studies and did not provide an exhaustive list of all conditions experienced by participants. For example, participants were only allowed to choose from a list of 10 conditions (Yi et al., 2014) to reporting a combined total of 3751 conditions (Geenen et al., 2007). Once again, although many of the findings were similar in nature, it was difficult to obtain a comprehensive picture of the late effects on survivors across studies.

Also, three of the four studies had participants self-report their signs and symptoms via survey or a list of conditions, and physicians were not consulted to confirm whether they truly were the result of pediatric cancer (Dieluweit et al., 2010; Oeffinger et al., 2006; Yi et al., 2014). As such, participants were only able to list the conditions they were experiencing and were unable to fully elaborate on the nature of the effects they were experiencing in relation to their cancer treatment.

Only two of the four studies had a control population for comparison purposes (i.e. Oeffinger et al., 2006, and Dieluweit et al., 2010). However, these controls were not randomly selected from the population, but rather, were siblings of the participants in the Oeffinger et al. study (2006) that were not matched for age or gender, or were participants of a household longitudinal survey (Dieluweit et al., 2010) who were not matched for age and were utilized out of convenience. A more representative control sample would have been a random sample from the population matched for demographics such as age, gender, marital status, and environment. As such, neither of these control samples is the best comparison group.

Lastly, it should be noted that all studies were about the survivor; however it is important to also understand the role of the family in the diagnosis, treatment, and recovery from pediatric cancer, as cancer has been shown to affect the entire family (Clarke, Fletcher, & Schneider, 2005; Clarke & Fletcher, 2003; Fletcher, 2010; Fletcher, 2011; Fletcher, Schneider & Harry, 2010; Overholser & Fritz, 1991; Patterson, Holm & Gurney, 2004). As such, the next section will discuss the effect of cancer on the family unit.

1.6 THE FAMILIAL PERSPECTIVE

1.6.1 Pediatric Cancer Effects in the Family

While the majority of this literature review has focused on the late effects of pediatric cancer on adults, it is important to remember that during the pediatric cancer journey – diagnosis, treatment, and recovery – the children affected are not the only individuals experiencing a multitude of effects (Clarke, Fletcher, & Schneider, 2005; Clarke & Fletcher, 2003; Fletcher, 2010; Fletcher, 2011; Fletcher, Schneider & Harry, 2010; Overholser & Fritz, 1991; Patterson, Holm & Gurney, 2004). The families surrounding the children with pediatric cancer also undergo a variety of experiences that may last beyond the treatment phase and into remission as well. While much work has been invested in studying the effects of cancer on the individual, it is also important to understand the effect of a pediatric cancer diagnosis on individuals close to the children – particularly immediate family members, such as parents and siblings. Research that has focused on the effects on the family members described both benefits and costs of a pediatric cancer diagnosis. Each will be discussed in turn to display a broader interpretation of how a pediatric cancer diagnosis affects the family.

1.7 SHORT TERM FAMILIAL EFFECTS

1.7.1 The Family Unit

When looking at the immediate family of the children, some effects lasted while the children were in treatment. For example, it has been shown that during treatment, parents felt high levels of stress and fatigue, and sometimes had relationship issues with their spouses (Clarke, Fletcher, & Schneider, 2005; Clarke & Fletcher, 2003; Fletcher, 2010; Fletcher, Schneider & Harry, 2010; Patterson, Holm & Gurney, 2004; Phipps, 2005). As well, the family experienced financial issues, often stating that they had to work fewer hours or quit their jobs in order to care for their children (Cohn et al., 2003; Dockerty, Skegg, & Williams, 2003; Fletcher, 2010; Fletcher, 2010; Fletcher, Schneider & Harry, 2010; Overholser & Fritz, 1991; Patterson, Holm & Gurney, 2004).

1.7.2 Siblings

Research has also demonstrated that siblings of children with cancer may receive less attention from their parents, as reported by parents themselves (Fletcher, 2010; Patterson, Holm & Gurney, 2004). Additionally, children who did not have cancer stated that they felt that their issues were of less importance because of their sibling's sickness (Zelter et al., 1996). Siblings without cancer also experienced feelings of helplessness and negative health outcomes, such as stress and exhaustion, as a result of worrying about their siblings with cancer (Alderfer, Labay & Kazak, 2003; Fletcher, 2010; Zelter et al., 1996).

This worrying was exacerbated by the fact that siblings were often left with neighbours and family friends, as parents were providing care to their children with cancer (Fletcher, 2010; Fletcher, Schneider, & Harry, 2010; McCubbin et al., 2002). Siblings experienced fear of the future for themselves and their sick siblings, as they did not know if they would also develop cancer or if their sick siblings would develop cancer again. As well, siblings of children with cancer were at a higher likelihood of acting out due to the fact that many children resented their siblings with cancer and the attention that they were getting (Alderfer, Labay, & Kazak, 2003; Patterson, Holm, & Gurney, 2004) even though the increased attention was a result of their cancer diagnosis.

1.8 NEGATIVE LONG-TERM EFFECTS

1.8.1 The Family Unit

While parents were relieved at the completion of their children's cancer treatment, undergoing such an ordeal has the potential to lead to the development of some negative longterm effects. For example, Overholser & Fritz (1991) conducted a retrospective study in the United States in which 44 children who had cancer (22 boys and 22 girls with a mean age of 10.34) and their families discussed the implications of pediatric cancer two to seven years after treatment. Many parents described that they were still undergoing financial setbacks from their children's treatment, as 45% of mothers and 20% of fathers had to alter their work schedules or quit their jobs to be with their children during their illness. Studies by Dockerty, Skegg, & Williams (2003), as well as Cohn et al. (2003) found similar results. As well, it was noted that parents who outwardly projected their stress and anxiety more often during their children's illnesses (in front of their children) reported poorer social relationships with family and friends after their children completed treatment. To add, parents who were able to effectively cope and not "lash out" on others while their children were sick expressed better long-term family functioning than those who were unable to cope as effectively (Overholser & Fritz, 1991).

Additionally, research conducted by Patterson, Holm & Gurney (2004) on 45 parents (aged 32 to 56) and their children (aged 3.8 to 26) whose cancer treatment had ended at least one

year prior aimed to understand the impact of childhood cancer on the family unit. Within their work they discovered that many parents experienced stress regarding the effects that cancer treatment would have on the future lives and health of their children. Many parents expressed worry concerning the fertility of their children with cancer and even went as far as to look into fertility treatments, including sperm banking. Further, many parents articulated that they were fearful of relapse, and that they were more vigilant in observing the needs of their children with cancer when they were sick. Lastly, parents explained that pediatric cancer fractured their family life and that they now had to relearn how to function together as a family unit. Many parents stated that they were still attempting to fully repair their relationships with their spouses after going through such a traumatic experience together (Patterson, Holm, & Gurney, 2004). Not only were parents fully cognizant of the severity of the cancer on their children, but, oftentimes, their "healthy" children were well aware as well. Seeing their sick siblings undergo many difficult experiences also affected the lives of healthy siblings for a long time after treatment.

1.8.2 Siblings

In a study conducted by Zeltzer et al. (1996), 254 siblings (aged 5 to 18, 129 males and 125 females) of children with cancer, as well as their parents and physicians, were asked to complete structured interviews and surveys with researchers in order to ascertain their current lifestyle and health outcomes while having a sibling being treated for, or having completed cancer treatment. A control group of children who did not have siblings with a chronic disease and their parents were also selected for comparison. More detail about the methodology can be observed in Appendix B.

It was found that parents of children with pediatric cancer were less likely to take "healthy" siblings to the doctor when they mentioned specific somatic problems compared to controls. Some of these issues included complaining of stomachaches, having a stiff neck or chest pains, and complaints that they "hurt all over" (Zeltzer et al., 1996). When discussing the overall health of siblings of children with cancer, their parents ranked their children as having "excellent" health in 97% of cases, the siblings themselves stated they had excellent health in 90% of cases, and their physicians ranked siblings as having excellent health 82% of the time. As well, behavioural surveys were completed that corresponded to mental health issues, with a higher score representing a higher severity of issues. Both boys and girls who had siblings with cancer scored much higher on the surveys than control children - so high that their scores matched children who were referred to health care professionals for psychiatric issues. It was also shown that the children aged 12 and older who had a sibling being treated for cancer displayed a higher prevalence of risky behaviours: 35% of adolescents who had a sibling with cancer used alcohol a minimum of once per month compared to 3% of control adolescents, and, with tobacco use, 26% of adolescents with a sibling who had cancer reported using it once a month compared to controls, who reported 17.4%. Overall, this research revealed that parents were less likely to spend time with "healthy" siblings due to time spent with their children with cancer, and "healthy" siblings were more likely to develop risky behaviour patterns than controls (Zeltzer et al., 1996).

Additionally, in a study conducted by Alderfer, Labay, & Kazak (2003) 78 siblings (mean age 14.2) of children with cancer reported their experiences approximately 5.3 years after their siblings with cancer had completed treatment. It was found that 49% of siblings had developed mild post-traumatic stress reactions and 32% had developed moderate to severe posttraumatic stress reactions as a result of having a sibling with cancer. Siblings scored higher than fathers (30.0%) and the cancer survivors themselves (14.0%) in the incidence of post-traumatic stress reactions, only scoring lower than mothers (40.0%). The authors did not include any information to explain why mothers scored highest, although it could potentially be stipulated that mothers typically were the most burdened during a childhood cancer diagnosis, as they were more likely to quit their job and spend more time taking care of their sick children. As well, siblings who were older than the age of six years at the time of their siblings' treatment were more likely to develop post-traumatic stress symptoms than those who were younger. This was attributed to the belief that they were more cognizant of what was occurring with their siblings while they were sick (Alderfer, Labay, & Kazak, 2003).

It is important to understand that while childhood cancer drastically affects the family unit, not all effects incurred by the family are negative in nature. Some of these effects are positive in nature – a surprising sentiment to have after going through such a difficult time.

1.9 POSITIVE LONG-TERM EFFECTS

1.9.1 The Family Unit

In a study conducted by Fletcher (2011), nine mothers aged 32 to 47 of children who were treated for, and, in some cases, died from their childhood cancer were interviewed about their experiences. The mothers stated that they reprioritized their lives when their children became sick. The turn of events they were experiencing forced them to focus on the positive aspects of their lives and live as much in the moment as they could. Mothers reported that one of the more positive aspects of their children undergoing cancer treatment was the overwhelming amount of support from family and friends. They felt that they could depend on many people in their lives, and also stated that friends or employers that they originally were not close with became an integral support network during their children's cancer treatment. These feelings of support, or feeling loved, allowed mothers to better cope with their children's cancer diagnosis. Treatment centers also aided in this, as some mothers stated that the staff and treatment teams, as well as other parents undergoing the same process, made a difficult time much easier to experience. Mothers of children who both survived and died stated that they wanted to create positive aspects of undergoing such a negative process. As such, these families would raise funds for cancer initiatives, oftentimes raising funds in their children's memory and giving back to others experiencing pediatric cancer diagnoses. One mother stated that to give back, her child's body and organs were donated after he died, furthering research on pediatric cancer and potentially saving other children and parents from experiencing the same outcome. Regardless of the end result of treatment, many mothers explained that the family unit became closer, as their relationships with their spouses and children became stronger by undergoing the whole process together. Through this, mothers developed a greater sense of responsibility to their families, as well as others in their cancer journeys (Fletcher, 2011).

Similarly, Clarke & Fletcher (2003) interviewed 25 mothers (aged 31 to 46) of children who had cancer (aged 3 to 18), about their role in being at home and providing health care to their children (more detail can be observed in Appendix B). Many of the mothers discussed that going through pediatric cancer made them have a more positive outlook on life because they became more appreciative of the health of their family and everything that they had. As well, many of the mothers discussed how they came to terms with their feelings of sadness at the time, and were more forgiving of the fact that they were allowed to feel sad and live fully in the moment of what they were experiencing. Mothers learned to apply this philosophy to their current lives (Clarke & Fletcher, 2003). These sentiments were also discussed in research conducted by McCubbin et al. (2002). This information is important to understand, as many of the health outcomes reported are easily translated into long-term health effects, and, as such, it is important to provide care not only to the pediatric cancer survivor, but to their family members as well.

1.9.2 Gaps in the Literature

While literature exists regarding individuals who experienced pediatric cancer as well as their families, there are some gaps in the literature that lead to an incomplete understanding of the toll of this disease later on in life. For example, some studies focused on the experiences of mothers and not directly on the fathers or siblings (Clarke & Fletcher, 2003; Clarke & Fletcher, 2010; Fletcher, 2010; Fletcher, 2011; Fletcher, Schneider, & Harry, 2010). Additionally, studies conducted on siblings were purely quantitative in nature, did not capture the "voice" of the participants, and only examined negative outcomes of the experience (Alderfer, Labay, & Kazak, 2003; Zeltzer et al., 1996). Other studies solely examined particular outcomes, such as the negative physical and mental outcomes (Alderfer, Labay, & Kazak, 2003; Patteron, Holm, & Gurney, 2004; Zeltzer et al., 1996), and did not capture the all-encompassing nature of a pediatric cancer diagnosis. As such, although previous research provides a picture of the pediatric cancer experience, it is not complete.

In regards to studying the survivor, his/her support person and his/her health events, it would be beneficial to conduct qualitative research studies. This is because the essence of lived experiences can emerge and allow for a greater understanding of the journeys of those affected by pediatric cancer diagnoses, as well as further provide a source of support for their siblings and parents. As well, more research needs to be conducted examining the multifaceted nature of the long-term cancer effects and how survivors and their support people feel about themselves, their environment, relationships, health outcomes, and the term survivor in itself. Lastly, of the existing literature regarding the late effects of pediatric cancer survivors, few were conducted in

Canada. As such, there is a gap in the literature regarding how Canadian pediatric cancer survivors live after their cancer treatment and what they and their support persons experience beyond treatment. As a result, research addressing these gaps is warranted.

1.10 RESEARCH PURPOSE

This research will examine the lived experiences of the perceived long-term effects of pediatric cancer on the adult survivor and their effect on their primary support person. For the purposes of this research, the term pediatric will encompass individuals between the ages of 0 and 19 years old. Within the research, three main research questions will be addressed:

- 1. How has having pediatric cancer influenced who you are today?
- 2. How do you identify yourself with respect to your experience with pediatric cancer?
- 3. In being a support person, how has caring for someone who had pediatric cancer influenced who you are today?

The proposed study provides an all-encompassing picture of the late effects of pediatric cancer on adult survivors and the affect of these late effects on survivors' primary support persons. Implications for this research include developing resources for families and survivors of pediatric cancer to prepare for any future effects, as well as allow for medical professionals and charitable organizations to prepare their clientele for what lies past remission.

CHAPTER 2: METHODOLOGY

2.1 PARTICIPANTS

In order to accurately depict the lived experiences of pediatric cancer survivors and their primary support persons, participants who had undergone the experience firsthand (Patton, 2002) were asked to participate in the study. As such, purposeful sampling was used, namely criterion and snowball sampling. Purposeful sampling was used to recruit participants who were considered information-rich and could describe their experiences in great detail (Creswell, 2013). Criterion sampling is based on the principle that participants are included if they "meet some criterion" (Creswell, 2013, p.158), while snowball sampling allows for individuals to refer the researcher to other possible information-rich cases (Creswell, 2013, p.158).

Participants were recruited through word of mouth and advertisements to societies and support groups for pediatric cancer in Ontario. Participants were assessed for specific inclusion and exclusion criteria to ensure that they were information-rich and could provide a comprehensive interpretation of life post-cancer. For identification purposes, individuals who had pediatric cancer will be referred to as survivors, although it is important to note that not all individuals within this group would identify as a survivor. Additionally, their self-identified primary support persons will be referred to as primary support persons, or support persons. The inclusion criteria for pediatric cancer survivors included: (1) must be a resident of Ontario; (2) must be between the ages of 16 to 30; (3) must have completed cancer treatment a minimum of 3 years prior; and (4) must not be undergoing treatment for any secondary cancers, unless caused by the primary cancer. As well, the criteria were not exclusive to any particular cancer, meaning that survivors diagnosed with any cancer as a child were allowed to participate. Due to the rarity

of pediatric cancer, choosing participants based on cancer type may have created difficulty in recruitment and reaching saturation.

In terms of the perceived current primary support person, the inclusion criteria included: (1) must be a resident of Ontario; (2) must be over the age of 16; (3) must have a close relationship with the participant for a minimum of 3 years; (4) must have been a person the survivor frequently communicated with and was dependent on for any physical, emotional, mental, psychological, or other unspecified aspects of daily living for approximately six months; (5) must be knowledgeable of the cancer survivor's past cancer diagnosis and treatment but not necessarily there while it was occurring, and (6) must be considered to be the primary support person by the cancer survivor. To elaborate on point five, primary support persons did not necessarily have to have been present during the survivor's diagnosis and treatment, as they were being recruited to elaborate on any late effects the survivors were currently experiencing, and not the effects they experienced when undergoing treatment.

2.2 RESEARCH TOOLS AND PROCEDURE

2.2.1. The Qualitative Method

To fulfill the purpose and answer the research questions of this study, the most appropriate methodology to use was qualitative in nature, as these methods allowed for a holistic understanding of a particular experience or phenomenon. Specifically, the theoretical orientation chosen for this research was phenomenology. As described by Van Manen (1990), "Phenomenology asks for the very nature of a phenomenon, for that which makes a some-'thing' what it is - and without which it could not be what it is" (p.10). This theoretical approach was most fitting because the purpose of the study was to explore the lived experiences of pediatric cancer survivors and their primary support persons. In order to do this, "one must undertake indepth interviews with people who have directly experienced the phenomenon of interest; that is, they have 'lived experience' as opposed to 'secondhand experience'" (Patton, 2002, p.104).

In addition to the interviews, a number of additional methods were used, including background questionnaires, field notes, and member checks, so that the true "voices" could be conveyed by participants in order for readers to fully understand the essence of their experiences.

2.2.2 Ethics

All tools and procedures were approved by the Wilfrid Laurier University Research Ethics Board. Participants read and signed an informed consent statement prior to participating, and were also given the opportunity to ask the researcher any questions prior to their participation in the study.

2.2.3 Background Questionnaires

Participants completed a background questionnaire specific to their roles (i.e. pediatric cancer survivor or primary support person). For the adult survivors, a background questionnaire was completed that consisted of: (1) demographic information such as age, education, employment, relationship status, and ethnicity; (2) their memories of their experiences with cancer as children; and (3) their current lives and any effects they may be experiencing as a result of their cancer. For the primary support persons, a background questionnaire was administered which consisted of items pertaining to: (1) demographic information such as age, education, sequence, and relationship status; (2) their knowledge of the diagnosed individuals' past cancer experiences; and (3) their role as primary support persons. The information from these background questionnaires was used to create context for the interviews.

2.2.4 Interviews

Each participant took part in a one-on-one, semi-structured interview conducted by the principal researcher. The interviews were arranged at a time and place convenient to the interviewee and were conducted either in person, via Skype, or via telephone. The lengths of the interviews were dependent on the participants' responses. For the survivors, the interviews lasted for an average of 61 minutes, with the shortest and longest times being 44 and 89 minutes, respectively. The interviews for the support persons lasted an average of 56 minutes, with the lengths of 31 and 88 minutes respectively being the shortest and longest.

Each interview for the pediatric cancer survivors consisted of 15 open-ended questions. Questions were asked regarding: their background and demographic information, their relationships with their primary support persons, their memories of their experiences with pediatric cancer, and their current behaviours and health in relation to their experiences with pediatric cancer (see Appendix C). For the primary support persons, each interview consisted of 13 open-ended questions. Questions consisted of their background and demographic information, information regarding the pediatric cancer survivors and their experiences with cancer, current life as support persons for the diagnosed individuals, and any late effects that the survivors were currently experiencing (see Appendix C).

Subsequently, each interview was transcribed verbatim so that data analysis could begin and the researcher could monitor saturation of information collected throughout the recruitment process. During data analysis, the information presented was examined for the recurrence of particular themes, discussion topics, and contrasts. Saturation was operationalized as collecting data until there was no new information acquired (Morse, 1995) and additional interviews would not add to the quality of the research (Patton, 2002). When the principal researcher felt saturation had been reached, recruitment of participants ceased, and the data obtained was analyzed further.

2.2.5 Field Notes

Data collection was further enhanced by the collection of handwritten field notes. The researcher took notes prior to, during, and immediately following each interview. Field notes were taken to record participants' reactions, body language, and emotions in response to particular questions. This was done to provide additional context to their experiences and feelings towards the topics at hand. As well, notes taken during the interviews were also used to highlight important pieces of information disclosed by participants, which assisted in post-interview data analysis. Lastly, field notes were taken afterwards to record the reflective thoughts of the researcher after the completion of the interviews, also known as journaling (Janesick, 1999). The principal researcher, while personally never having undergone the experience of pediatric cancer and undergoing treatment. From these experiences, the principal researcher was motivated to conduct research in the area, and utilized such motivations in aspects of conducting this study.

2.2.6 Member Checks

After transcription, participants were given copies of their transcripts in order to clarify any information they may have discussed during the interview, which allowed for greater accuracy of the data, as well as to build rapport and trustworthiness between the interviewer and the participants (Holloway, 2005). Member checks were also completed in order to give the participants an opportunity to "correct, amend, or extend" (Lincoln & Guba, 1985, p.236) information existing in their transcripts so that they were comfortable with the data being presented in future research papers, posters, or presentations by the primary researcher. Participants were provided with a three-week period to complete the member checks, and if they were unable to return their member checks within the specified time period, data analysis proceeded without their input. Lincoln and Guba (1985) contend that providing participants with member checks add to data credibility. The member checks allowed the participants to evaluate the information within the transcript, address any areas of concern regarding accuracy of the data, and confirm the details shared throughout their interviews. Participants chose the format in which they wished to receive their member checks (either a physical hard copy sent via postal mail or an electronic copy sent via email). The researcher added any new responses and changes made to the transcripts, and the edited transcripts were used for subsequent data analysis. Eight participants returned their transcripts with very minor edits or no edits made, and the remaining eleven participants did not return their member checks. In regards to the member checks returned with clarifications, the edits made were to information regarding the past treatments received (ie. clarification of value of fluids drawn during a procedure), to answer questions pertaining to why certain emotions were experienced at multiple time points (eg. while their child was undergoing treatment, now while they are a young adult), as well as to provide minor grammatical changes to the transcript (eg. removing the word "um") although the researcher did not make the last change.

2.2.7 Triangulation

The purpose of triangulation was to use multiple sources of information in order to corroborate and legitimize any findings during data analysis (Creswell, 2013). Data triangulation was used to increase of credibility of the study via utilization of multiple data methods, namely background questionnaires, field notes, one-on-one semi-structured interviews, and member

checks. Additionally, investigator triangulation was employed to strengthen the findings by having the primary researcher and her supervisor individually analyze and interpret the data. Also, a qualitative research group comprised of qualitative faculty members and MSc/PhD students aided in data analysis and interpretation. By employing two triangulation methods the credibility of the study was enhanced (Patton, 2002).

2.3 TRUSTWORTHINESS: CREDIBILITY, TRANFERSABILITY, AND CONFIRMABILITY

Lincoln and Guba (1985) contend that the trustworthiness of a particular study is essential to establishing the study's value. Credibility, transferability, and confirmability are three means by which to establish trustworthiness (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Each of these concepts will be discussed in turn.

2.3.1 Credibility

Credibility is the ability to create confidence in the data presented (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). For qualitative research, Patton (1999) suggests that the following factors help to establish credibility: (1) rigorous methods and techniques to obtain high-quality data, (2) ensuring that the researcher is credible, and (3) a belief in qualitative research and its value.

The credibility methods previously mentioned (see 2.2.5: Field Notes, 2.2.6: Member Checks, and 2.2.7: Triangulation), allowed for greater integrity of the data to be established, as well as establishing trustworthiness between the researcher and participants (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Also, constant communication with participants was maintained throughout the study, which allowed them to be contributors to the process.

Additionally, the primary researcher was an integral tool in the qualitative research process. As such, in order to gain an understanding of qualitative methodologies and theoretical approaches, the primary researcher completed a qualitative research course. As well, an

extensive review of the literature regarding the late effects of pediatric cancer on survivors and on the family unit was completed. This was done with the guidance and supervision of an experienced faculty member. Additionally, the researcher completed field notes and recorded any important information throughout the interview process in order to ensure that all other data sources used in the study were supported. Lastly, the researcher tried to remain neutral and acknowledged any biases being brought into the study through these field notes.

Finally, the primary researcher chose to complete a qualitative study due to the nature in which qualitative research methods allow for participants' voices to be heard. It allows for the true nature of the late effects of pediatric cancer to emerge, as well as address the multifaceted nature of these effects. As such, the primary researcher believed it beneficial to conduct a qualitative study on the topic.

2.3.2 Transferability

Lincoln and Guba (1985) described transferability as the ability to apply findings of a particular work in different contexts. To do such, the researcher must obtain a "thick description" of the topic at hand (1985). For the context of this study, transferability was maintained by ensuring that high-quality data was obtained. To do this, all participants were included on the basis that they were information-rich cases. The employment of this method allowed for theoretical saturation to be reached, thus enhancing the integrity and transferability of the study (Lincoln & Guba, 1985).

2.3.3 Confirmability

Confirmability, as reported by Lincoln and Guba (1985), is the degree of neutrality within a study, or how the participants and their responses, as opposed to the motivations of the researcher, shaped the data. To establish confirmability, Lincoln and Guba (1985) state that

using field notes (2.2.5) and triangulation (see 2.2.7) are integral to this process. Field notes were completed before, during, and after interviews to capture the feelings and perspectives of the primary researcher, as well as the participants during their interviews. The field notes captured the essence of the participants' experiences, and allowed these true experiences to emerge in the data. Also, two triangulation methods (i.e. investigator triangulation and data triangulation) were used to aid in this process as well. This once again allowed the participants and their interpretations of their experiences to shape the data used in this study.

2.4 DATA TREATMENT

2.4.1 Qualitative Analysis: Phenomenology

The theoretical orientation used to guide this research was phenomenology. Van Manen (1990) contends that phenomenology is the "explication of phenomena as they present themselves to consciousness" (p.9). He further stipulates that consciousness is "the only access human beings have to the world" (Van Manen, 1990, p.9). Patton (2002) describes phenomenology as

"how human beings make sense of experience and transform experience into consciousness, both individually and as shared meaning. This requires methodologically, carefully, and thoroughly capturing and describing how people experience some phenomenon – how they perceive it, describe it, feel about it, judge it, remember it, make sense of it, and talk about it with others." (p.104)

As this research examined the lived experiences of pediatric cancer survivors and their primary support persons, phenomenology was the most appropriate theoretical orientation to use, as phenomenology allowed the phenomenon (i.e. pediatric cancer) to be examined and understood through the investigation of qualities and intricacies of the phenomenon in question (Van Manen, 1990).

Data gathered from the background questionnaires was used to provide a framework for the interviews and provided the researcher with context. As well, background questionnaires were also used when reviewing interview transcripts, and in collaboration with field notes to understand and maintain the context at that particular time. For survivors, the background questionnaires provided information for the interview regarding their past treatments, current side effects, as well as who they would consider their primary support persons. After participating in their interviews, survivors were asked whom they would consider their primary support persons, based on the individuals they had chosen in their background questionnaires. After selecting their support persons, survivors were asked if their support person would be willing to participate in the study. If support persons agreed, the primary researcher contacted them personally to obtain consent and provide them with information regarding the study, including their background questionnaires. In the questionnaires for the support persons, information providing context for interviews included: their knowledge of their survivors' past treatments, and aspects of their relationship with their survivors (eg. length of relationship, type of support given to survivors). Further, the field notes were used during the data analysis process so that particular phrases, reactions to questions, and emotional responses were reviewed during data analysis of transcripts. This allowed for a greater interpretation of the participants' stories, so that their voices were conveyed as realistically as possible.

A step-by-step analysis of the data, generally based around the framework of Moustakas (1994) was completed that allowed for themes to emerge. The experiences of all participants were divided into past and present (i.e. when they were experiencing their cancer and their current lives) by coloured coding labels on their transcripts. Additionally, while separating past and present experiences, the information was also colour coded for any positive or negative

effects experienced by having pediatric cancer, or being support persons for survivors. For the support persons that were not present during the survivors' cancer experiences, their transcripts were only coded for the current time period. From this initial coding process, transcripts were then re-read to examine the different effects experienced by survivors and support persons. Charts listing the potential aspects of their lives that were affected (e.g. physical, cognitive, social, career, etc.) were created for survivors and support persons and how they interpreted their own experiences. An additional chart was made for how support persons perceived these effects in survivors. The charts were also colour coded for the ways in which these particular aspects of their lives were affected for each survivor and support person (i.e. positively, negatively, or not at all). In doing such, multiple themes emerged regarding the late effects of pediatric cancer on survivors, and the effects that may be experienced by their support persons in caring for survivors. Subsequent to the discovery of the themes, transcripts were read again to highlight particular quotes that brought to life the way in which the facets of their lives had been affected. The quotes that were highlighted were colour coded by theme. These quotes were then re-read and utilized in this research to highlight the ways in which the lives of both survivors and support persons were affected. To do this, the verbatim quotes were utilized. The primary researcher then used investigator triangulation by meeting with her advisor, as well as a qualitative lab group, to discuss the themes that had emerged.

CHAPTER 3: RESULTS

3.1 INTRODUCTION TO PARTICIPANTS

This study was comprised of ten pediatric cancer survivors, and nine of their selfidentified primary support persons for a total sample size of nineteen individuals. Once again, for identification, individuals who had pediatric cancer will be referred to as survivors, although not all individuals within this group would necessarily identify themselves as survivors. Additionally, their self-identified primary support persons will be referred to as primary support persons, or support persons.

Survivors' ages at diagnosis ranged from 2 to 19, and at the time of data collection, their current ages ranged from 21 to 28. They had experienced a variety of cancers: benign thalamic astrocytoma (1), acute lymphoblastic leukemia (6), acute myeloid leukemia (1), Hodgkin's Lymphoma (1), and Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma T-Cell (1). While a benign thalamic astrocytoma is considered non-cancerous, the experiences of the individual and his primary support person were similar to the experiences of the other participants, and as such were included in the study. Additionally, the most common treatment received during their experiences included chemotherapy (9), surgery (3), and radiation (4). There were also additional interventions received during cancer treatment that can be seen in Table 1. Furthermore, the effects experienced by survivors were multifaceted in nature, and were described as both positive and negative in nature. For more detailed information regarding the demographics of the survivors, please refer to Table 1 on page 36.

The survivors, due to their current relationships, chose the support persons that they perceived to be integral to their current lives. Primary support persons' ages ranged from 23 to 73. The support persons included six mothers, one boyfriend, one fiancée, and one grandmother.

Of the nine support persons in the study, seven of them were also the primary support persons for the survivors while undergoing their pediatric cancer experiences (the six mothers and one grandmother). One individual was unable to provide a primary support person, as her support people felt uncomfortable with participating. For the majority of survivors, support persons provided psychological and financial support. Both survivors and support persons stated that participants were predominantly self-sufficient at the current time.

Participant	Dan	Savannah	Stephen	Danielle	Joey	Alyssa	Evelyn	Abby	Justin	Jolie
Diagnosis	Benign Thalamic Astrocytoma	Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia	Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia	Acute Myeloid Leukemia	Hodgkin's Lymphoma	Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia	Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia	Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia	Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma T- Cell	Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia
Age at Diagnosis	8	3 1/2	11	14	13	2	3 1/2	19	15	17
Treatment	Surgery	Chemotherapy Blood transfusion Bone marrow biopsies	Chemotherapy Radiation therapy Bone marrow transplant	Chemotherapy Surgeries Homeopathy and alternative medicine (chiropractor)	Chemotherapy Radiation therapy Surgery	Chemotherapy	Chemotherapy Radiation therapy	Chemotherapy Radiation therapy Stem cell transplant	Chemotherapy Steroids	Chemotherapy
Current Age	25	22	27	25	21	28	24	22	22	24
Late Effects	Right homonymous hemianopia Ataxia Visual scanning delay Visual/Verbal short term memory	Lesser heart fibres Anxiety	Stunted growth Sexual health issues	Survivor's guilt Depression Right leg partial amputation Memory issues (chemo-brain)	Decreased lung capacity Weakened tooth enamel	Needle-phobia Claustrophobia	Poor eyesight Tooth formation issues	Joint pain Gall bladder removal Muscle spasms and cramps Migraines Fatigue Memory issues (chemo-brain) Menopause	Nerve damage in legs Sleep apnea Heightened Learning Disability Anxiety Depression	Avascular necrosis in bones – resulted in two hip replacements Bone in foot is dead
Self perceived overall health	Excellent	Excellent/	Excellent	Fair – Good	Good	Excellent	Good	Good	Fair	Good
Support persons' perception of overall health	Good – Excellent	Good – Excellent	Excellent	Fair – Good	Excellent	Good	N/A	Good	Fair	Good

Table 1: Demographic information for pediatric cancer survivors

Support Person	Margaret	Meryl	Shannon	Barbara	Lisa	Chris	Beth	Catherine	Sharon
Support Person to:	Dan	Savannah	Stephen	Danielle	Joey	Alyssa	Abby	Justin	Jolie
Relationship with Participant	Mother	Mother	Mother	Mother	Mother	Boyfriend	Mother	Fiancée	Grandmother
Current Age	54	50	58	55	48	31	62	23	73
Present during cancer experience?	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes
Perceived overall health	Good	Good- excellent	Fair-good	Fair - good	Good	Good	Excellent	Good	Good
Support provided to participant at present time	Emotional Financial	Emotional Financial	Emotional Financial Cognitive Physical Psychological Social	Emotional Financial Cognitive Physical Psychological Social "Pet babysitting"	Financial "Residence"	Emotional Physical Social	Emotional Financial Physical Psychological Social	Emotional Financial Cognitive Psychological Social	Emotional Financial Physical Psychological Social

Table 2: Demographic information for support persons

3.2 THEMES

Survivors and some support persons reminisced about their cancer experiences, as well as commented on the effect that pediatric cancer had on their lives today. Discussing their previous cancer journeys aided in providing context for their current life experiences. A total of **four** themes emerged from the analysis of the data: (1) "There wasn't a lot of time to sit and think.": The Pediatric Cancer Experience, (2) "There is no before cancer...there's only cancer."; (3) "I don't know if I would change it."; and (4) "As long as you need me I'm yours.". Theme 1 addresses the time period in which the survivors underwent pediatric cancer treatment from the perspective of both survivors and some support persons. Themes 2 and 3 pertain specifically to the effect that pediatric cancer has had on the lives of the survivors, while theme 4 addresses the current lives of the support persons. The themes and their respective subthemes are summarized in Table 3. Each will be discussed in turn.

Theme	Subthemes				
1. "There wasn't a lot of time to sit and think.": The Pediatric Cancer Experience	N/A				
2. "There is no before cancerthere's only cancer."	 i. "I live with symptoms and side effects every day. And, they're never gunna go away." ii. "I completely changed." iii. "I'm eternally grateful. I got chosen to have a second chance." 				
3. "I don't know if I would change it."	i. "Stop and smell the roses."ii. "I think it's given me kind of a purpose."				
4. "As long as you need me I'm yours."	i. Do their effects affect me?ii. "You realize what's important and it sticks with you."				

Table 3: Themes and subthemes of the lived experiences of pediatric cancer survivors and their primary support persons.

3.3 "THERE WASN'T A LOT OF TIME TO SIT AND THINK.": THE PEDIATRIC CANCER EXPERIENCE

Prior to discussing the results of the current study, which examined the current, or late, effects of pediatric cancer, it was important to first reflect upon the past in order to gain a contextual understanding of the effects that both survivors, as well as their support persons, were currently experiencing. As such, this section describes the time period during active treatment for pediatric cancer, and highlights both the positive and negative aspects of their journeys from the perspectives of both the survivors and their support persons.

Almost every survivor (except for those who were too young to remember) easily recalled the signs and symptoms or events that led to their eventual diagnoses (refer to Table 1 for diagnoses), as did their support persons who were present at the time. Many acknowledged the "nightmare" which came after diagnosis. Some of the most vivid memories for both the survivors and support persons were of the treatment side effects that the survivors experienced. These side effects were often severe, and, for the support persons, difficult to watch their children endure. For example, Shannon and Sharon, a mother and grandmother, shared the following from their memories of the side effects experienced by their respective son and granddaughter.

...during the bone marrow [transplant]...you stay in isolation until your blood count starts to climb, and you can be very close to death and have, quite um, bloody diarrhea all those things... he never complained and when he had mouth sores they gave him morphine, they gave him an overdose of morphine which needed to be counteracted with narcs and, he almost went into respiratory distress. ~Shannon (Mother of Stephen)

...seeing her in the bed and all puffy and, all, tubed up. She would get these horrible ulcers all over her nose and her lips, from, whatever, whoever knew what that was from....I think about when she she got the port, got infected. And, we were there the day they were going to, they packed it and then they were going to unpack it....It was just horrible. ~Sharon (Grandmother of Jolie) Survivors who were old enough to remember their experiences also recalled the following:

...there was a point, when I did get bedridden...I couldn't walk. When I got up I was too weak...I did basically relearn how to do that, 'cause I was also so far gone with my medication that I couldn't, tell, I could barely tell left from right half the time. ~Justin (Survivor)

...I was just so sick that I, I wasn't eating, I wasn't drinking, I wasn't, getting out of bed. I wasn't uh, really able to function at all as a human being at this point in time. It was, pretty terrible stuff....I [had] your very typical, chemotherapy reactions of nausea, vomiting, uh, just not wanting to eat, and having fatigue. ~**Stephen** (Survivor)

For Evelyn, her treatment altered her moods, which in turn affected her relationships with her

family members.

Radiation I did for, two weeks twice a day every day, and then, I did chemo and I, was on a lot of steroids as well. I just remember...that the steroids really affected who I was. My cousin actually wrote, a little essay, and it said that the steroids took his sweet little cousin and turned her into, someone that I actually wasn't. ~**Evelyn** (Survivor)

Danielle experienced an extensive list of side effects - many which medical professionals never

expected her to have.

...I did have a lumbar puncture [that] actually caused a clot in my spine. So I went completely paralyzed from the waist down, for over a month. From that, I have permanent nerve damage on the right side....they actually had to, put me in an [anklefoot orthosis], so, I had to relearn how to walk...I was getting wounds and that sort of thing from the AFO....one time I had a yeast infection in my mouth and had to, suck on Canesten tablets which is disgusting....They always said that um, the complications that they would never, expect, I would always get. **~Danielle** (Survivor)

The effects that survivors experienced were not only physical in nature. Some survivors

stated that they underwent changes in their social relationships at school, as all survivors were of

school-attending age while undergoing treatment. Survivors admitted that overall, their

classmates and school administrators were supportive. However, there were survivors that

encountered maltreatment from their peers. For example, Alyssa and Danielle described social

relationships disappearing and disrespectful comments from their peers.

...because I was very actively involved in, Candlelighters, and, the Cancer Society it started getting out more and more that I was the cancer girl at school....But uh I was the cancer girl and they'd come and ask me stupid questions and pull my hair and some people would, not be around me. ~Alyssa (Survivor)

...when I first got diagnosed the rumour around high school was that I was pregnant. And then, that cancer was contagious. Um, and then, it wasn't, that I was really bullied. It was that, everybody dropped like flies like...everybody was scared to come and see me. So, I think I had, maybe one or two friends that, actually visited me and that was it. And I had a boyfriend at the time and he actually broke up with me over email. **~Danielle** (Survivor)

For Dan and Joey, the side effects from their treatment sparked judgment from their classmates.

...I never felt like I was the cool kid I always tried to hide my, my hand and my arm, um, the tremor, and, you know I had a splint and I tried to hide that under my pants and, and all that stuff. Um, to try to normalize myself, and then in, I think it was like [deep inhale] grade seven or eight, um, I got bullied for um, I got called 'tumour boy'...one guy mocked me and it, and it actually continued on until the first year in high school. **~Dan** (Survivor)

...I remember I went to the fair that summer and I had already lost all my hair, before school had started again, because I was diagnosed in June, so, by the time September rolled around I was, still, undergoing treatment. Hair was gone. And um, one of the, people who was a grade below me, who, really, had a chip on their shoulder....they, told me I was 'attention-seeking' - I had shaved my head and I was faking it. ~Joey (Survivor)

Survivors understood that comments of that nature were the result of a lack of knowledge or a

lack of maturity from their peers. However, they believed that facing those situations made them

better individuals, by making them stronger, and more confident in themselves.

Both survivors and their support persons remembered an overall description of how they

felt or perceived the time during their cancer experiences. The mothers and grandmother that

were present during cancer treatments expressed that they felt an array of emotions, but the

dominant feeling was that of protecting their children.

I was mother bear...I can't run away. This is when my child needs me the most now...I dug deep, and, I really found, um, there is a lot of power in prayer, and, [pause] there's a lot of strength – that kept me strong, in order to, help Dan heal. **~Margaret** (Mother of Dan)

The whole thing was a rollercoaster... you're scared, and then, you're nervous, and then you, you feel, terrible for them you'd take their place in a second. Um, and then you try and find the positives and you try to encourage them, so you put on a face. ~Meryl (Mother of Savannah)

I felt like I was in a nightmare and I couldn't wake up from it. I kept wanting to wake up. [pause] It was just, terrible. Just awful. If I could trade places with her I would've. **~Barbara** (Mother of Danielle)

...you think, 'well why couldn't it be me instead of her? Why does she have to go through all these painful procedures?' and uh, you know you cry a lot, and, then you try to cover it up so she doesn't see how upset you are ...you're on a such an emotional rollercoaster you know? **~Beth** (Mother of Abby)

Survivors were also able to recall some of their familial struggles. Jolie and Dan remembered the

stress their family felt, although their families displayed immense strength during that time

period in order to keep them strong.

...my family was so, so tight...they were extremely supportive. They were always positive when they were around me. I never saw them shed a tear. I never saw them look really stressed, that I could see...supposedly after, when they'd leave, you know there'd be a lot of crying and stuff, uh, behind closed doors but they always wanted to create that, unified front. ~Dan (Survivor)

I remember, everyone, being, so strong, when they were around me. But like I could tell when, they had left for a little bit and [came] back [that] they and been crying and upset. **~Jolie** (Survivor)

Throughout their journeys, survivors primarily remembered the strength and love that they felt

that overshadowed the struggles that both they and their families faced.

...it was almost like a house divided, at some points. But at the time when I'd be home, it would be like, all that we're focused on was, like, trying to keep me healthy and trying to get me, to the, end of my treatment plan like that kind of became, the main priority within the house. Like everything else kind of, was pushed aside, I suppose. ~Danielle (Survivor)

I also remember, my parents just always trying to, keep me positive and uplifted....[my mom] stuck through it with me and kept going with me and, is still a major part of why I'm here today....not a day went by that, my family wasn't by my side. ~Evelyn (Survivor)

I felt loved. Like there was never a day where, somebody didn't come in and, and tell me that they loved me or that I was, you know, or that I was, doing, a good job like people always told me that. ~Abby (Survivor)

The fact that participants were able to recognize the strength and support from their

families is extremely important. Although the cancer experience often had many negative

aspects that took a toll on individuals and their families, the emergence of silver linings amidst

the turmoil of diagnosis and treatment were often experienced.

For many of the survivors, the positives were some of the smaller aspects, like helping

others during their stay at the hospital, or spending time with family and friends.

...one of my strongest memories was, my dad and my brother, got me a radio 'cause I loved to dance. They brought, the radio up to [me], and we were, caught dancing by one of the, nurses, and she actually joined in on it, and that's one of my, stronger, memories. **~Evelyn** (Survivor)

...my mom had gotten me up and we played, air-hockey....there was one game my dad and I would play, take turns playing it was like, you know fighter planes kind of thing....yeah those would be the most prominent, I would say. **~Joey** (Survivor)

...[there] was a, [little boy], and ... he was uh, terminal....basically he would go for a stroller ride and ... he couldn't talk because he was two. So me and his parents would just talk... they were, awesome they found it really helpful because, they would ask me questions basically, that [he] couldn't answer. [pause] For himself.... They were a lot of fun and then like, when I went to clinic I always saw them and hung out, so. Those were my best memories there. **~Justin** (Survivor)

For some of the mothers and the grandmother, the positivity from their children gave them

strength to continue on their journeys.

We laughed a lot. You know. 'Cause Jolie she was a fighter and she was...because cancer children are, they're amazing...oh lots of laughs one day she was feeling so lousy that instead of sitting in the clinic, they laid her on a bed and, her grandpa was with us and so. 'Come on grandpa get up here and lay on the bed' and oh my goodness they were being so silly! [laughs] But it was fun. ~Sharon (Grandmother of Jolie)

...they [had] to, paint every orifice, with antibiotic cream every day. He would make a joke out of it. He wouldn't let the nurses do it because, it involves putting antibiotic cream around, every orifice...and this little 11 year old, he would have us in stitches

while he was doing all of that. So I think he, got us through, the treatment. **~Shannon** (Mother of Stephen)

Lisa commented that support from others helped her through that time period.

...at school, I hadn't seen it...some of the kids had put, on Facebook a 'Pray for Joey' link on Facebook. And that was just amazing to see that was just, one of my, getting to the breakdown point. I just sat and read that one night when the kids pointed it out to me and I it, the outpouring of support from people that you don't even know, is just, phenomenal you know people say thoughts and prayers don't mean a lot but they really do. ~Lisa (Mother of Joey)

Lastly, for Abby and her mother, Beth, their silver linings were finding out that she was going to

have a stem cell transplant – a second chance at life:

...I remember, the day that they told me that I was gunna get cells from somebody and it was, it just takes you, right?....it took me a minute to like even say anything because, I had never heard of anybody being a stem cell donor before, all of this and to think that somebody in a completely different country and a completely different area, wants to help me and they don't even know me? There's good people out there. I think that was, the best memory, for me. ~Abby (Survivor)

... just this person that, had no knowledge of us or our situation but, had, you know um, had put their name on the donor list and then um, when approached, you know took the time to go and do this, so. As I said our daughter had a chance to live and that was a very special moment. **~Beth** (Mother of Abby)

Despite undergoing hardships, both survivors and support persons recalled positive

memories throughout their cancer experiences, which helped them through their cancer journeys.

All of these pediatric cancer experiences laid the foundation for the survivors and support

persons to live their lives today.

3.4 "THERE IS NO BEFORE CANCER...THERE IS ONLY CANCER."

All individuals, particularly the survivors, acknowledged that at least one aspect of their being had been affected by their cancer experiences, such as their overall health (i.e. physical, emotional, cognitive), as well as characteristics of their personalities and social functioning. Within this theme, there are three subthemes: a) "I live with symptoms and side effects every day. And, they're never gunna go away.", b) "It made me grow up.", and c) "I'm eternally grateful. I got chosen to have a second chance."

3.4.1 "I live with symptoms and side effects every day. And, they're never gunna go away."

All ten survivors, as well as some support persons, stated that the health of the survivors had been affected by cancer. Each person expressed that these effects came about as a result of their cancer experiences and/or treatments. While some survivors emerged from their cancer relatively unscathed, for most, their cancer experiences took a physical toll. Some of the late effects experienced were due to their bodies' reactions to treatments – effects they were often still experiencing currently.

Kinda, chemo like, literally froze my body. I, didn't grow, really much during that time frame. And I haven't [grown] much – I have not [grown] much since then....Yeah so I have sleep apnea now. [pause] Because of the excessive weight gain....I also have nerve damage in my legs. And that's, pretty permanent. ~Justin (Survivor)

...I came out with having, different disabilities right? So in particular, uh, a right homonymous hemiopia...so, blindness in, the right side of both my eyes, um, and then also uh, ataxia or a tremor [on] my right side. **~Dan** (Survivor)

...I, joke around about this all the time but I'm still waiting to hit puberty....the physical, limitations would be, just the fact that I, probably should be, 5'8 5'9 and 180, pounds. And that would, allow me to be, a different person in terms of my physical abilities....then in terms of emotional and, sexual health, being, uh, 115 pound, 27 year old male who can't grow facial hair, certainly has an impact. **~Stephen** (Survivor)

For Danielle and Jolie, complications that arose after their treatment resulted in major surgeries

years after their cancer treatment had ceased. These operations caused effects that still persisted

to this day.

...the surgeons actually wanted to amputate both of my legs below the knee but, because I wasn't of sound mind my, parents made the decision to try and save as much as they could. So, they did a partial foot amputation on both feet....my right, partial foot amputation, was so painful and I was always having wounds and we were always having to do surgery and, just, walking, wasn't feasible for me...I had, had really been contemplating for about two years to actually do the below knee amputation. Um, and then I finally decided to do that in my victory lap of high school. ~Danielle (Survivor)

...when I moved to college and I did that and in my, second year my hips, started really really bothering me. So then I had to have a hip replacement and, you can't really, you need about three months to, recover from those....I [had] my last, my second hip replacement in the summer, of, 2013 I believe....my, um avascular necrosis. Has, is, pretty much the big thing that has, affected me post treatment. ~Jolie (Survivor)

Abby is still currently receiving interventions to aid with the effects of her treatment.

Well the bone pain....they're treating, the iron in her blood...she goes to the outpatient uh cancer clinic, um, once a month and they take 400 ccs of blood [out]. ~**Beth** (Mother of Abby)

Further, some survivors stated that cancer might have affected their fertility, although no one

was completely sure. At the time of the study, none of the participants were in the position of

trying to conceive.

... I froze sperm before. And uh, so basically I still pay to have that done and because I have no idea if I am fertile or not. ~Justin (Survivor)

I never actually saw a number on what more likely than not was but I would assume about 99.9% certainty that I will not be able to have, my own children. **~Stephen** (Survivor)

I've, hit menopause, so, I don't have periods anymore...I can't...there's a very high chance that I won't be able to reproduce. **~Abby** (Survivor)

Their support persons reiterated many concerns about the physicality of the participants.

....there is some uncertainty as to whether or not Abby could ever have a child of her own. **~Beth** (Mother of Abby)

...height and weight might both be attributed to, some of the chemotherapy. Um, of course he's going to, um, have to watch more closely cardiac effects so, blood pressure cholesterol, things like that, because, childhood cancer survivors, who are 30, have the hearts of, 50-60 year olds. ~Shannon (Mother of Stephen)

...it was the cancer that caused the chemo that caused, the bone problem right? Like she knows. She says 'if I become a mom, I will never be able to chase my child.' **~Sharon** (Grandmother of Jolie)

While some survivors reported physical limitations from their cancer experiences, the

health effects spanned beyond the scope of physicality. Survivors discussed the psychological

side effects resulting from their cancer. For example, some revealed that they experienced

survivor's guilt, or often wondered why they survived when they had peers who may not have

done so.

Knowing that, there's some people who, you know I, I look at them and go, they were a great person. What makes me so special that I'm still here, when they're not? ~Joey (Survivor)

Sometimes it makes me feel a little bit guilty, because, I was chosen to make it through my battle, and others were not. I don't understand why, but I'm eternally grateful, that I got chosen to have a second chance. ~Evelyn (Survivor)

I, as well as many other survivors I know, we carry a lot of survivor guilt. Um, so it just doesn't make sense as to why, you were, the one that was saved and, in remission, and then these other people that, had the will and strength to live and did nothing wrong and they, pass away...I don't know. ~Danielle (Survivor)

Additionally, some survivors stated that they developed depression or anxiety that has persisted

to the present time.

...I get anxious every day....my anxiety is a little, different, then [other] people's anxiety these days you know....I get those anxieties too, but it's all relative. I think. In that sense, 'cause, my anxieties don't exactly match with my peers. They're a little, up, on the importance level I would say. I don't freak out about the little things. I can't. ~Abby (Survivor)

I am diagnosed with depression and anxiety. And before it was really only anxiety....I got depressed, during the cancer treatment....[the anxiety] it's horrible...if there's too many people like in Boxing Day or something, if I'm not feeling it, I can't go. I gotta like, bulk up on medication before I go in. ~Justin (Survivor)

...when I was in, the ICU, I got what was called ICU psychosis. Um, and it's where you are depressed and you have severe anxiety....they put me on antidepressants and I've been on the antidepressants since....like the depression itself is specifically related from the cancer. ~Danielle (Survivor)

Savannah developed an eating disorder in combination with her anxiety.

...I did have, have anxiety for a long, uh a long time before I was, you know given the correct medication for it....I definitely, had a...co-morbid, um, uh, eating disorder with that, as well....my experience made me, just more, **aware** of things....the sensitivity definitely it, contributed to, me feeling anxious....I think it does have a um, a, a

connection. To my, experience, with uh, pediatric cancer, for sure. **~Savannah** (Survivor)

Other survivors developed phobias because of their experiences. For Alyssa, she and her

boyfriend, Chris, acknowledged that her cancer treatment caused her to become needle- and

claustrophobic.

...there was a lot, a lot of, needle pokes and needle starts. And um, from there as I got older I, am needle-phobic now I've developed a needle-phobia...I hated lumbar punctures. I'm, claustrophobic now, also because of the lumbar punctures. ~Alyssa (Survivor)

...she's needle-phobic which, she she, is convinced comes directly out of, you know is out of those kinds of experiences so....that is, kind of an example of maybe, one thing that just fear that, can, become, completely irrational and and you just know that you have it. And as you get closer to that situation you start to freak out so. Um, that's, an example of maybe how, she wouldn't, deal with stress the greatest. ~**Chris** (Boyfriend of Alyssa)

Jolie and her grandmother, Sharon, recognized that her experience with cancer created a fear of

death.

...my day-to-day life like if I all of a sudden have, like a pain in my, like the middle of my leg or, just little things like I feel like I have a little bump or my throat hurts like, my head instantly goes to cancer....dealing with it has given me kind of like a fear of death. Like I'm, so scared I'm gunna die, and not be able to, do certain things or meet certain people or, see my, like watch my brother grow up. ~Jolie (Survivor)

Well, Jolie was probably the the bravest girl that I've ever known before this happened. Now, she's not quite so brave. She's a little bit, anxious, more so than she ever was. It did leave her that way I think. She has a few fears that she wouldn't have, you wouldn't have, said she had before. And one is dying. You know she, she's a little bit, she doesn't like to hear about anybody dying. And she doesn't like to think about it. **~Sharon** (Grandmother of Jolie)

Undeniably, the mental and emotional health of participants was compromised as a result of

their cancer and its late effects. In contrast, other survivors stated that their cancer experiences

helped them cope more effectively with their anxieties and stressors.

I, really don't, stress about the little things....Anything else, it's like well is it really going to affect someone's life in a, major negative way? Probably not. Okay then we'll work around it. ~Joey (Survivor)

...I think I have really good adaptation skills and coping skills to deal with that stress and, considering I've gone through, cancer before in my life, the stress of going through medical school, seems, less significant, and certainly, the coping skills I developed helped to alleviate some of that stress. ~**Stephen** (Survivor)

Survivors addressed that they were also affected cognitively. Some stated that they have

what is known as "chemo-brain", namely issues with short term-memory as a result of

chemotherapy. These issues persist currently.

...I wish I would have, um, wrote things down, more frequently, just because, your memory, like chemo-brain is a real thing so [laughs] um, my memory isn't as great, as it used to be. ~Danielle (Survivor)

Chemo-brain. That's a big one, as well. My short-term memory is not there. I, if I don't write it down, I'm not remembering it. **~Abby** (Survivor)

Dan had not received chemotherapy, but also stated that he had cognitive difficulties as well.

...it was definitely cognitive deficits. I still struggle with, um, verbal short term memory and visual short term memory....in university I had to, um [pause] work, uh, I had to get extra time for tests and stuff like that not because I, I couldn't um, understand the information it just took me a bit longer to read it, and a bit longer to kind of comprehend, uh what was being asked of me. **~Dan** (Survivor)

Other survivors stated that they had developed learning disabilities, or had previously diagnosed

learning disabilities that became more prominent after their cancer treatment.

...probably the main thing would be my, slight learning disability, if you, categorize my spelling and grammar skills, they are, an elementary school level. And I will never, reach, high school or university level for that. No matter how hard I try. But that's probably the only thing that's really been delayed. ~Alyssa (Survivor)

...I did have, a learning disability....that learning disability has really come out. Strongly. Because of, I guess, chemo....chemotherapy makes it worse. Or can make it worse. [pause] So, um, [pause] I really see it come out now. And I didn't really see it as an issue when I was a teenager. ~Justin (Survivor)

Some of the mothers, as well as Catherine, Justin's fiancée, addressed different cognitive effects

that their survivors were experiencing; however they could not comment on whether the effects

were directly attributed to their cancer experiences.

...Dan can be impulsive, and that can be one thing that they had, um, they deemed – the physicians. And, um, the occupational therapist and physiotherapist had said that a lasting effect, could be impulsivity. **~Margaret** (Mother of Dan)

...Savannah's directionally challenged. And, I'm not, I don't know if that's a correlation or not....like she doesn't like the whole, experience of of, sort of, 'let's go downtown today and, do this and experience this and that' she's never been, doesn't know how to go, there and hasn't seen it, then it's difficult for her. ~**Meryl** (Mother of Savannah)

...I find, in a lot of aspects of his life like he can't, think, things through, like he would if he had a proper education, I believe. Um, just, basically [pause] simple stuff too like, I tried to show him how to, like just, he can't read a map....Like if he's watching a movie, and you know how there's like, underlying plot and you can see it? Like he can't pull that out. ~Catherine (Fiancée of Justin)

Undoubtedly the cancer survivors experienced effects later from their treatments as conveyed by

themselves and/or their support persons. Few survivors acknowledged that their health, or health

strategies, had been positively affected (i.e. in their coping mechanisms). This sub-theme

revealed that the cancer process negatively affected many individuals regardless of the diagnosis

or treatment they received.

3.4.2 "I completely changed."

When thinking about the way in which they approached their lives currently, all

survivors believed that some aspect of their personalities had changed as a result of their past

experiences with cancer. Individuals stated that they considered themselves more mature than

their peers, or that they were forced to mature earlier than others as a result of their cancer

diagnoses.

...I think I was forced to mature, mm, faster than everyone else. Like, um, [pause] I had to more, think about, surviving rather than, going out and partying and having a good time and living that whole, aspect of life. **~Jolie** (Survivor)

...when you go through something like that, it just, you have to mature a lot faster just because you're dealing with things, a lot of kids shouldn't have to deal with and don't even have to think about. ~**Evelyn** (Survivor)

...I, think I matured a lot faster, than, my peers just because I was so young when I was diagnosed. So I understood, way more mature topics and mature notions, before any of my friends did. Like I could rattle off an entire medical procedure to you by the time I was seven. And I don't think most seven year olds could do that. ~Alyssa (Survivor)

Joey and Abby admitted that they currently feel more mature than their peers.

...mentally, I feel like I'm more mature, then most people my age. Emotionally, um, as well. ~**Joey** (Survivor)

I'm like 100 years old [laughs]I've just gone through so much that my, life experiences is, that of a 70 year old, right?....I've matured a lot. And I wouldn't want my friends to mature as much as me right now, because, that would mean that their life experience, is that of a lifetime. ~Abby (Survivor)

Most support persons' comments mirrored the opinions of the survivors regarding their necessity

to mature faster than their peers.

...he's an old soul. As an 11 year old he coped, amazingly well. He did amazingly well. And he's, always been that way....you know not many 11 year olds have to face a terminal illness, so, uh, he probably matured, well before some of his peers, emotionally. ~Shannon (Mother of Stephen)

I think it forced him to mature a little faster. Quite honestly. You know he had to deal with things that a lot of kids don't have to deal with he had to be careful. And pay attention to what was, around him. Um, and take care of things and, everything had to be clean and, so I think it forced him to mature a little faster. ~Lisa (Mother of Joey)

Additionally, survivors stated that aspects of their personalities were altered because of

their experiences. For those who believed that their personalities had changed, all acknowledged

that the changes were positive in nature.

...I think also, like, I completely changed, from how I was in the beginning of grade nine to who I am now. Like I used to be very shy, and, quiet, and now like I have no problem, talking to people in public I do a lot of public speaking, um, if people ever have any questions about, myself or my treatment or my cancer story or that sort of thing I'm like, an open book so. I think also like, the treatment and the whole experience kind of changed me as a person. Like personality wise. **~Danielle** (Survivor)

I think that, because of, [pause] being in the hospital I've learned from, the nurses and families just to, be kind and caring for, those around you. I find that I am good, socially with the families. Working problems through, listening, and comforting others. ~Evelyn (Survivor)

...I'm rather positive....at one point I wasn't, and, it was all attributed to my, um, disabilities, where I really started focusing on my abilities?....I'd also say in terms of my, like, my drive to, when I'm told I can't do something, um, that's when I I really am **pushed** to, to move forward because I was told I couldn't do a lot of things. **~Dan** (Survivor)

Support persons believed that the cancer experiences changed the survivors' personalities for the

better.

...I definitely think he's a more caring person....he, will go above and beyond for anyone, and he cares about, everyone, like, [pause] he will do anything, if they ask him to....like his parents always wish that he never had cancer, and I always tell them like that, may have caused him to not be the man he is right now. Um, 'cause he is, so much more, um, supportive and, there for you like, he cares. **~Catherine** (Fiancée of Justin)

...she definitely has, um, a sense of caring, uh an empathetic side, to her that maybe she, wouldn't have come out this much had she not gone through it. ~Meryl (Mother of Savannah)

Oh she's much more confident now. [pause] Yeah. Well when you battle anything it makes you stronger. Yupp. Definitely. Oh she's a fighter. She's stubborn [laughs] when she wants something there's no stopping her [sniffs]. She's little but she's mighty. **~Barbara** (Mother of Danielle)

Overall, survivors believed that their personalities changed because of their experiences, and

their support persons agreed. These changes were both positive and negative in nature - while

survivors matured quickly due to the graveness of their disease, they became more confident,

kind, and positive individuals.

3.4.3 "I'm eternally grateful. I got chosen to have a second chance."

The title of this subtheme, shared by Evelyn, references the fact that she greatly appreciates surviving her cancer diagnosis, and is extremely thankful for the fact that she was given a second chance at life. This sentiment resonated with all of the survivors, who felt remarkably appreciative for the fact that they were alive. Alyssa was too young to remember life before her cancer, but knows the way she lives now is because she survived her cancer. But I think, how I lived my life since....it's very much impacted on the fact that I had, cancer as a child....I think 100% cancer, has had a huge impact on my life, and has changed it, from what it would have been if I was just a normal average two year old that had never seen a hospital in [her] life. ~Alyssa (Survivor)

For Danielle, being on the brink of death inspired her to experience as much as she could with

the second chance she was given.

...I like to, travel and experience things, um, I'm more adventurous now like I want to experience life so....I've gone skydiving. Um, I want to try hang-gliding like...I have a list, it's like a bucket list...that I started writing down when I was on treatment. [The list is] of things I actually want to do and experience so. It's kind of a to-do list that I would like to experience all of those things before, I die. Whenever that is. **~Danielle** (Survivor)

Savannah discussed how beyond "grateful" she was to have been given a second chance as well,

even though she acknowledged the time in which she was undergoing treatment was not a

positive experience.

...it's kind of, a great impact on my life and, I definitely, wouldn't be who I am today without it...it's made me a stronger person, and, in general, it's made me, like, uh, learn how to be very – really sensitive to people's feelings, and, just to, you know, situations in general. And....I'm very, I'm grateful for the experience looking back on it even though it wasn't so great back then. **~Savannah** (Survivor)

Abby summed up her sentiments of being a survivor with the following quote:

I'm very grateful to be alive. Very grateful. There, there was, many instances where, I, I could have not been alive anymore. Um, but, I am alive. And, I'm going to do, [bigger] and better things than, my cancer diagnosis....even though I face all these struggles and, and, and setbacks every day, um, there, I I'm just grateful. Like that's the only thing I can really say about it is that, there's, not one ounce of me that isn't grateful. **~Abby** (Survivor)

Her mother supported her opinions and added:

But I think, she probably values, you know um, being healthy and being at university and being sort of a normal 22 year old, probably a lot more than, the average 22 year old.... She really sees that, you know she's fortunate to have made it through this. **~Beth** (Mother of Abby)

However, "surviving" pediatric cancer, or being a pediatric cancer "survivor" did not

necessarily encompass the views of all the individuals who experienced pediatric cancer in this

study. When speaking about the vernacular of cancer, the word "survivor" is often used to describe individuals who were diagnosed and treated for cancer, and have lived past remission (Bartels, 2009; NCCS, 1986). However, not all individuals may define the word survivor as such, or identify with the term, regardless of the type of cancer they had. This topic was discussed during the interviews with all participants. Both survivors and support persons conveyed their opinions on the term, as well as whether the survivors in the study actually identified as such.

Both survivors and support persons were asked to define the word survivor, or to describe what the term meant to them. In stating their definitions, there was a plethora of language pertaining to war and battle analogies used to help define survivor. The title of this subtheme became a shared sentiment of many of the survivors, as appreciation for surviving, and having a "second chance" was prevalent in these definitions as well. Some of the participants directly referenced themselves as "overcoming something" in their definitions.

...I have overcome something, that, [pause] there are plenty of people who haven't, and they've succumbed, to that, and I, it makes me feel like victorious...I did this...I survived cancer. ~Jolie (Survivor)

To me a survivor is an individual, that has fought, a hard battle, or cancer, or, any battle really in that sense, and has gotten through it. I think it just means, that, you're somebody that, has, been lucky enough, to keep going in life and that, you don't give up, easily, and that, you were given a second chance at life. ~**Evelyn** (Survivor)

To others, the term survivor was about "coming out the other side", once again automatically

placing themselves, or who they were caring for, in the definition.

...in it's simplest form she survived, the cancer right? Some people did not, some people did....if you're a survivor, things have been handed to you, and you've dealt with them and you've, come out better on the other side. You've survived. **~Sharon** (Grandmother of Jolie)

...someone who has, been through, some kind of, tragedy or illness, or, kind of horrific, experience and made it out the other side. Relatively intact. ~Alyssa (Survivor)

...I overcame, the possibility of death I suppose...I overcame the possibility of death and that I also overcame, um, a very difficult life experience, and came out, the other side, like, in a positive way. ~Danielle (Survivor)

...someone who's, come out the other side of something, difficult....It could be physically, mentally, emotionally, um, any of those things. **~Meryl** (Mother of Savannah)

For Barbara, the definition was solely about her daughter Danielle, her ability to beat her cancer,

and how she has lived a second chance at life since her cancer experience.

She's alive. She has a good attitude. [pause] Uh, [sniffs, long pause] she's able to give back...She's able to, support others with cancer...She supports the cause...she was strong. [sniff] Uh, [sniff, pause] she beat the odds. ~**Barbara** (Mother of Danielle)

Many of the definitions provided were extremely positive in nature and were believed to

epitomize the survivors. It is important to note that although the majority of individuals provided

definitions similar to those stated, not all opinions were in congruence. For example, Dan

believed the term survivor was all about how an individual personally identifies with the term:

...I guess for me, semantics....you can call yourself whatever you want, right? Um, I think that, that's good if that's, what's important for you. But for me it doesn't really mean, all that much. **~Dan** (Survivor)

His mother, however, had a different opinion about survivorship.

Someone who's dug deep...and by being deep I mean really looking into themselves, and finding, the strength, the strength in themselves, to, deal with adversity, around them....developing wings, and just taking off. That's a survivor someone who, isn't just existing but who, is, being a contributing member to a society. ~Margaret (Mother of Dan)

Stephen and his mother, Shannon, shared the same opinion concerning the term survivor. They

believed the term was overused.

...the term cancer survivor I think has a lot of those, [war and battle] connotations associated with it. Which, I personally don't, uh embrace any of those....To me, I was diagnosed with cancer, and I was treated by medical doctors. The medical doctors did, all of the work for that to happen. As a patient, I didn't do any work to battle cancer. ~**Stephen** (Survivor) It's an overused term, that needs to be, taken from our vocabulary and stop labeling people as survivors...I don't know if someone's come up with, a term that really describes, but, I think that all people, battling illness don't want to be identified as their illness. They want to be, still recognized as [the] person they are ...rather then, you know, a cancer survivor. ~Shannon (Mother of Stephen)

The term survivor conjured up different opinions among the survivors and their support persons. Some participants identified with the term, while others did not. As such, the word may not necessarily be the most accurate term used to describe this population.

After being asked to define the word survivor, all individuals were then asked whether or not they believed the participants to be pediatric cancer survivors. The responses were overwhelmingly in favour of the term, with eight of the ten survivors classifying themselves as such, and eight of the nine support persons concurring. Both survivors and support persons also shared their gratitude that the survivors did just as the term implied – they "survived".

Catherine considered Justin to be a pediatric cancer survivor because he lived through his cancer experience. However, she conveyed that he was also still surviving, as he has continued to learn how to live with the late effects of his cancer.

Yes. [pause] I mean, he went through, cancer which was, pretty rough and, he has made it to the other side but, it's like, [sighs] it's a steady process. Like, there's certain little aspects that pop up and, he just keeps having to, um, get through them so like, life's not back to the way it was but, it's better. ~**Catherine** (Fiancée of Justin)

Other survivors in the study were in favour of the term and what it meant to them. Both Jolie and Alyssa considered themselves to be survivors in a more literal sense, in that they were alive because they received treatments for their cancers.

...*if I were to go to the doctor right now, and they were to, do a bone marrow biopsy, my blood would be clean...whereas, in 2012, it was, full of mutated cells.* **~Jolie** (Survivor)

...I was diagnosed with, a potentially fatal illness depending...if I had been diagnosed 10, 20 years earlier, it may very well have been fatal. It, was, due to, technology and, science at the time that allowed me to survive, that type of, invasion on, my, body and my bodily systems. ~Alyssa (Survivor)

Savannah and Abby felt grateful to be considered survivors, as not all individuals who undergo

the cancer experience can share the same sentiment.

But yeah I do even though it happened, you know, however many years ago. Um, I do consider myself a survivor. Um, and it means a lot to me, that I am one. ~Savannah (Survivor)

Yeah. I would consider myself a survivor, not necessarily just cancer, because, cancer is what I had. It's what, tried to kill me, but, I'm, I'm a survivor my disposition is to be a survivor. I was destined to be a survivor...being a cancer survivor, is, is special. And, there's not a lot of people in this world that can say that they are, so I'm very blessed to be a part, of, that community. ~Abby (Survivor)

This gratitude also extended to the support persons. For many support persons, considering their

participants to be pediatric cancer survivors was a source of pride.

...it affected him in every possible way I imagine it could. Um, but he still, came through it. He's made a decision he's, he wants to do something and, he feels that he can change, I think [laughs] he feels he can change the world by himself. Um, but, I mean I guess the experience has helped him, to be more empathetic towards some people. ~Lisa (Mother of Joey)

Absolutely. Absolutely. Yes. Always going to be grateful, for the treatments, and the doctors and the hospital and the, oh, yes. Yes. [laughs] She's definitely a survivor and when she's at the Relay for Life she wears her survivor shirt, proudly. Absolutely. **~Sharon** (Grandmother of Jolie)

'Cause she beat the odds. She went through an incredibly difficult, um, journey...with being in the ICU with having the stem cell transplant....Um she made it to her one year two year, and two and a half year transplant anniversary, um, stronger than ever...And she did it with grace, too. I mean she never whined, she never complained, she never once said 'why me?' **~Beth** (Mother of Abby)

The three individuals that were not in agreement with the term were Dan, Stephen and

Shannon. As Dan believed the term was a matter of semantics, he would not personally identify

with the term.

I, I don't ever, consider myself a sur-sur-survivor....I don't necessarily like to [pause] give myself like, give, give a word like that, to, relate that to myself. **~Dan** (Survivor)

Stephen and Shannon both understood why individuals who had undergone the cancer

experience identified themselves as survivors, however neither would recognize Stephen as a

survivor.

He is, the recipient of a bone marrow transplant that was successful, from his brother. He's not a childhood cancer survivor, he's Stephen because, this was an aspect of his life that he had to, go through. **~Shannon** (Mother of Stephen)

...if it was not for the medical advancements that were made by Sidney Farber, who, treated the first chemotherapy agent, which was, methotrexate...it was used on, childhood cancer, patients, who had leukemia, in the forties. If he didn't do that I wouldn't be here today, so, I don't want to take, any credit for surviving cancer. I don't think that's...on me. **~Stephen** (Survivor)

Even though Stephen would not consider himself a survivor, he acknowledged that living past

his cancer provided him with many newfound chances to achieve.

...it's tough for me to say there are positives that come out of having cancer....but I certainly understand that there are. I have, had good things in my life happen since I've been diagnosed with cancer, and some of them have been directly related to, that cancer diagnosis. ~**Stephen** (Survivor)

All points made in the discussion surrounding survivorship were extremely valid, as the variety

of definitions provided allowed for more multifaceted definitions and perspectives on the word.

It also aided in understanding that not all individuals who experienced pediatric cancer identified

with the term, and as such, grouping a set of individuals as "survivors" would not address all the

views of the group. Regardless of the views on the term, all "survivors" were grateful to be

alive, and discovered newfound ways to utilize this second chance at life.

3.5 "I DON'T KNOW IF I WOULD CHANGE IT."

Despite the devastating effects of pediatric cancer as discussed in theme 1, all

participants found a way to give back to the pediatric cancer community – through giving advice and mentoring others, in their schooling and career decisions, or in helping others understand the preciousness of life itself. The title of this theme, "I don't know if I would change it", was a phrase shared by Danielle. She, like other survivors, had disclosed that they would not change having cancer, or aspects of their cancer experience, because their journeys changed the way in which they view and live their lives today. After going through cancer diagnoses and treatments, the survivors admitted that they were grateful for their experiences. Within this theme there were two subthemes: a) "Stop and smell the roses."; and b) "I think it's given me kind of a purpose.".

3.5.1 "Stop and smell the roses."

Within this subtheme, survivors discussed the positive changes within their family units, as well as the effects their cancer experiences had on their future schooling, career choices, and personal values. As stated by a multitude of the survivors, "stop and smell the roses" illustrates the fact that they cherish life more, and live life with the purpose of helping others, which they learned in undergoing their cancer journeys. Although a pediatric cancer diagnosis and treatment was extremely difficult for them as children and their families, many of the survivors recounted the strength of their families during that time period. They stated that their experiences brought their families closer, made them value each other more after the experience, and helped shape their family units today.

...The support that, um, my dad gave to my sister and the support my mum gave to me, was just uh, just really, fundamental in terms for our growth as [a] family. ~Dan (Survivor)

...*My* other sister had three kids. The house turned from me, them, and my parents into, my sister and, her boyfriend....they taught me it was kind of awesome....it really brought my family together. **~Justin** (Survivor)

...I value my family a lot. They are literally my whole world. ~Jolie (Survivor)

I would just say that, my family and my friends were my biggest supporters. I probably don't tell them this enough, but, if it wasn't for them, I don't think that I would've gotten through that situation, and had the outcome that I did. **~Evelyn** (Survivor)

Support persons also concurred that the cancer experiences not only strengthened the bonds that

they had with their children, but also the resilience of their family units.

...*if I had had a choice, she would never have had cancer. Absolutely no - nobody should...But, in the way the family, worked together and, and what we did for her, I wouldn't change.* **~Sharon** (Grandmother of Jolie)

...that's something, that impacted my life the fact that, the family became closer and the fact that my husband and I became closer as a result. Um, if that was possible....being supportive for her and each other. ~**Meryl** (Mother of Savannah)

...we realized we're a strong family unit and I think that's, you know, certainly, very positive...we've had a lot of people say interesting things to us....you know if they had some sort of minor difficulties [laughs] they were going through, they would say, um, you know look at what that family's going through and look at how they're dealing...I think in some ways we became, we became, a little bit of an inspiration for some other people in kind of a weird way. ~**Beth** (Mother of Abby)

...it brought us very close together. Very close together. Yupp. We'd sit and watch House and we'd paint nails...when she was neutropenic of course we had to stay in that room...We'd spend hours together, look at magazines...No I wouldn't, I wouldn't trade it there'd be, nowhere else I'd be but, other than with her. Yeah like, there was no question about that. I wouldn't have been, anywhere else. **~Barbara** (Mother of Danielle)

Chris, Alyssa's boyfriend, although not present during her cancer experience, knew that her

family had become closer as a result of her cancer.

...you go through a lot, as a parent, in, having a child through, diagnosed with cancer. Um, and, I think that, that, uh, the fight, they probably had with Alyssa, um, trying to get her, uh, cured, or, feeling better was probably a really huge bonding one, for them, and her. And uh I think they came out of the other end of it probably appreciating her a lot more but being a lot more protective of her as well. **~Chris** (Boyfriend)

It was remarkably apparent that both survivors and support persons had a powerful love and

appreciation for their families because of their experiences.

Additionally, when speaking about appreciation, survivors indicated that their values had

shifted since their experiences, and that they valued and prioritized their family, friends, and the

fact that they lived beyond their cancer diagnoses. Many survivors expressed that their

perspectives on life had been altered.

...it's changed almost every aspect of my life...The things that you go through, makes you, realize, not to focus on the little things in life but, focus on the big picture, just be grateful for, everything that you have and every day that you, are on this earth. ~**Evelyn** (Survivor)

...my morals and values have been redirected for the better....I value, um, not just, you know the big things in life but the little things in life....when you get into a position like that it's, you know, fight or flight right? You're either gunna retreat and you're not gunna, not wanna deal with anything or you're gunna fight it and you're gunna go head on. And I went head on and I think that that's how I deal with everything now. **~Abby** (Survivor)

....I just think that I wouldn't be the person I am today without, my cancer experience...I mean I appreciate life more, I value experiences over things...my friends and family [clears throat] like the relationships I have, and I don't know what, I would do without the people in my life. ~Danielle (Survivor)

Other survivors concurred with Danielle's sentiments about not taking life for granted, and

understood that although a negative experience, their cancer journeys provided them with life

lessons in which to live their lives today.

Yeah it's given me a different outlook to, live every day to the fullest. Like I, I've been given a second chance, so I better do something with it....Live it to the fullest. You are not always promised tomorrow. ~Jolie (Survivor)

...it's, made me want to...take in every moment, and not, you know, uh, take anything for granted, for sure....So, I've, always just, l-learned to not take things for granted, because of it. ~Savannah (Survivor)

...it changed my outlook on, life, basically, the structure of life and, you know don't take it for granted and don't take stupid risks. **~Justin** (Survivor)

...I was fortunate and the people around me also, uh, let me know, to be aware that I was fortunateI think that, it led me to, kind of look at life as something that, um, is full of opportunities...something where you kind of create your future because, um, whether I see myself as ...an individual with a disability or ...as someone who has a lot of capabilities who's able to do a lot of good things in the community, that really affects, where I go and, and so that, effects kind of my life outcome and my uh, life, outlook, for sure. **~Dan** (Survivor)

Mothers reiterated these sentiments expressed by their children.

...I think he's, just like, everyone else and maybe, just maybe, he'd squeeze a little bit more out of life because he knows it's so precious. **~Shannon** (Mother of Stephen)

I think it's made him believe that, you know he's got a second chance, at life and he's gunna make the most of it. ~Lisa (Mother of Joey)

The graveness of a cancer diagnosis often shifts the priorities of all individuals involved, and for these survivors, their priorities were redirected for the better.

3.5.2 "I think it's given me kind of a purpose."

The ways in which survivors made the most of their second chances were manifested in

different ways. For many, their experiences influenced their schooling, career goals, and

volunteerism paths that may not have originally been taken.

All participants stated that their career choices, or the careers they were striving towards,

were chosen because of their cancer experiences. In many cases, they occupied positions in

which they helped those going through the same experiences they had. For example, survivors

were in school to become psychologists, physicians and social workers, while others had career

aspirations that led them to different positions in hospital settings - like Alyssa, who became a

Child Life Specialist to help children going through their pediatric cancer journeys.

If I hadn't gone through pediatric cancer, I wouldn't, have had such a strong, affinity and want to be in the health care system....I'd had such a positive experience, with the Child Life Specialist that I had....the fact that I get to do that now for other kids, I don't think I would have known about child life or even explored it if I hadn't have had cancer. ~Alyssa (Survivor)

...she's in Child Life which is, I mean that's closely related to care....her remembered or relayed experiences whatever, um, she, thought that there was, sort of a niche or room for it in the healthcare system. ~**Chris** (Boyfriend of Alyssa)

Additionally, Joey is a hospital security officer.

I hadn't really thought about, working at a hospital, uh at that point in time. I hadn't really thought about, building the stepping stones, towards, policing. I just thought security policing. But, um, seeing, how, you know, I was treated by the staff there....if I can...make somebody's day a little less [bad], why not? ~Joey (Survivor)

Further, Stephen is currently completing his degree in medicine to become a physician.

...seeing the talented professionals, in the [hospital] growing up, it, you know, you develop an admiration for what they do. You also develop a sense of, like amazement, and wonder, with what they can do. And that, shaped, the way that I, um, I guess that, changed the way I went through school. ~**Stephen** (Survivor)

Other participants simply wanted careers that allowed them to help others, not necessarily in the

field of cancer.

...[my aspiration to work in recreational therapy] changed because I wanted to help people....I can relate to a lot of people because...well they're really stuck inside their bodies or minds and at one point I was too. So, [pause] it really helped me, having cancer. It kind of really helped me, decide what field I was going in to. ~Justin (Survivor)

Ever since I was little, I've always wanted to work with kids, and today I get to do that. I get to work with families that have, seriously ill or injured children, and, it's, awesome, I'm so grateful to be a part of their journeys. ~**Evelyn** (Survivor)

Abby shared how her orientation in the field of business was redirected after her cancer

experience.

I came into [university] thinking that I was going to be the next Wolf of Wall Street...I was, so goal-oriented in getting through the business program, and uh, after my treatment I came back, and, I decided, that I wanted to work for non-profit organizations. So completely, the other end of the spectrum. From being money hungry to being, [laughs] charitable, right? So, um, yeah definitely changed my career goals. ~Abby (Survivor)

Her mother expressed a similar sentiment, stating that:

...her goal in life is to work for, non-profit organizations to raise funding to help other people so that, they don't have to go though what she went through. **~Beth** (Mother of Abby)

Additionally, survivors did not only want to give back with their career choices. Many

also volunteered, or had extracurricular work within the realm of helping others deal with their

cancer experiences. As an example, some survivors were mentors to individuals going through

cancer treatments.

...I volunteer for the Pink Pearl Foundation....I, am a mentor for young women and men....who are going through stem cell transplants or cancer treatments in general. I've talked to about, six people, since I've been diagnosed. ~Abby (Survivor)

I volunteer, like I said, with the Canadian Cancer Society, pretty much year-round....So, raising money, going out into the community trying to get donations. But I also, am a, peer support....if somebody needs somebody to talk to, then, the Canadian Cancer Society would send me an email, asking if I had the availability....I welcome the opportunity to help somebody through, something like that because...it sucks. ~Joey (Survivor)

Danielle spent her time speaking to others about her experiences to raise awareness and give

back to the organizations that helped her through her cancer journey.

All of the volunteer opportunities have some relation to my experience. Um and, me giving back to, the organizations that helped me as well throughout my treatments....I've gotten opportunities from those volunteer opportunities to travel and speak to other, people that are also as passionate as, um, about those kind of things as I am so. ~Danielle (Survivor)

Her mother, Barbara, believed that it is part of her life purpose to give back what she

was given.

...maybe it's, what she's meant to do maybe, like they say there's a reason for everything right?....why was she saved when other people aren't saved? Like, there has to be a reason for it....So, I mean she's raised a quarter of a million dollars she's, been to all these [sniff] conferences and relays and meetings and, she's met all these people and she's been given all these awards and, so I have to think that, that's part of the reason. **~Barbara** (Mother of Danielle)

After her bout with cancer, Alyssa attended a camp for pediatric cancer survivors, an experience

that altered many aspects of her life to this day.

I went to camp when I was five years old for the first time...and, that, changed my life....Not only, did I go there for 10 years as a child, but I, have now been there for 10 years on staff [laughs]I wouldn't have ever met my boyfriend because I never would have been, on staff at, my camp. ~Alyssa (Survivor)

Chris acknowledges this as well.

...the way we met....is, directly and indirectly through the fact that she had cancer so that's a big one. Um, so that affected my life obviously because I met her through

that....she meets a lot of really, special people through those organizations. **~Chris** (Boyfriend of Alyssa)

Additionally, for Alyssa, her parents wanted to give back after going through the cancer experience with her – they wanted to help others going through the same thing.

...I know my mum, got, super super involved in, Candlelighters and, the Cancer Society...she actually ended up starting, the Candlelighters chapter in, [city]. And then ended up being the Vice President of the Cancer, Children's Cancer Society or Candlelighters something like that she's really, high up there Vice President or President or something like that. Um so she was a really big advocate for, parents support and, support of, the children my dad went to a couple of groups but he preferred to stay, more to himself then to, get involved with other dads. ~Alyssa (Survivor)

Although the cancer experience was daunting, and often negative in nature, there were silver linings that emerged from their journeys. Survivors believed that it was important to give back to the organizations that helped them during their experiences, and to help others who may have to endure cancer themselves. Volunteer activities and career choices were two of the avenues used to express appreciation for the support they had been given in their times of need.

In addition to the unparalleled work the survivors already do in the name of cancer awareness and volunteer work, they were given the opportunity to voice words of encouragement to those currently undergoing, or who have undergone cancer treatment. When speaking in regards to individuals who had been recently diagnosed, survivors stressed that individuals needed to remain positive throughout the progression of their cancer treatment. Much of the advice to stay positive was summed up by Evelyn.

...it's not going to be easy, but when you focus on those positive things, that is what's going to help you get through everything....find those relationships that will keep you motivated and keep you going, and those relationships that have your back, those are going to help you get through. ~**Evelyn** (Survivor)

They emphasized that this advice allowed many of the survivors themselves to come through their respective journeys. However, there were some distinct pieces of advice that, while having remained positive, addressed other aspects of the cancer journey. Some survivors stated that

individuals needed to advocate for themselves throughout their treatment:

...they just have to listen, to what the doctors are saying. Listen to what options they have, uh try – make sure, especially if they're a little bit older make sure they're involved in, their own care discussions that nothing is, hidden from them. ~Alyssa (Survivor)

...it's 80% mental and 20%, out of your control....you just have to come to terms with the fact that you have cancer, and, you're gunna fight it. And, you're gunna get better, and the only way to do so is to be positive and to listen. And be your own advocate. ~Abby (Survivor)

For Dan, it was about embracing differences.

...I'd say probably something along the lines of [long pause] your differences make you, make you special. Your differences make you, um a unique person and that's okay....being aware that like it's okay to be different and it's okay to, to have these experiences that doesn't make you less of a person. You should be confident and proud of yourself. ~Dan (Survivor)

Stephen advised to use their experiences to develop perspective.

...don't let cancer become who you are. Don't fixate on, being the kid with cancer, don't, make it, your, end all be all. Be yourself. Let that experience influence you, in a way that, it gives you perspective. Take something from the experiences that you had with cancer. Use them, to shape you, and, use them to your advantage but don't let it consume you. ~**Stephen** (Survivor)

Survivors were then asked what advice they would have for someone who had been

through the experience, and were now older adults, like themselves. Again, responses

overwhelmingly navigated towards remaining positive. Additionally, survivors stated that if they

were to converse with another individual who had been through the cancer journey, they would

want to share and compare experiences. Nevertheless, there were some unique perspectives

brought forward by some survivors. Savannah described that, having been through the

experience, it was about celebrating the second chance given.

...do things that make you happy. Um, 'cause you're already gone through a negative experience, and, I don't think, anyone would, would want to spend their life being, you know, being uh being that, um, down, again. **~Savannah** (Survivor)

Alyssa described how individuals should use their experiences to shape their aspirations if they

so desired.

Come get involved and, give back to the community you love, whether it's a, hospital volunteer or, a camp volunteer. If you want to stay totally, away from any of that, then that's fine to do too! \sim Alyssa (Survivor)

And, for Dan, it was not about what to say, but rather, what to do.

...it's an obstacle in your life. We have a lot of things we face and uh, just being there as support, um being there as ...a positive, kind of empowering person, um and, really motivating people who are in those situations to, keep pushing on and keep going through it. Um, I think that's all you can really do I don't think the, specific words you say are going to, gunna, matter as much as the [pause] the actual actions you, you make. **~Dan** (Survivor)

All survivors conveyed that they wanted to give back in at least one way because of their cancer experiences. Through their own personal perspectives, careers, and volunteer work, survivors strongly believed that they would aid other individuals diagnosed with cancer in ensuring their lives would be changed for the better as well. With these views on how their cancer experiences shaped their lives, this concludes the themes discussing the effects of pediatric cancer on survivors.

3.6 "AS LONG AS YOU NEED ME I'M YOURS."

This theme specifically addresses any effects experienced by support persons as a result of caring for pediatric cancer survivors. The quote "As long as you need me I'm yours" was shared by Sharon, grandmother to Jolie. At the beginning of her cancer treatment, Sharon explained that she often said this phrase to Jolie to let her know that, regardless of the circumstances, she would be there to care for Jolie whenever and in whatever ways she would need it. The same could be said with the other support persons recruited for this study, who all provided care for their survivors whenever they were in need. All support persons indicated that their lives had changed as a result of caring for the survivors, regardless of whether or not they were present for the cancer experiences. The effects were not to the extent, or as negative as the effects described by the survivors; however, the experiences of the support persons were still integral in describing the lived experiences of life past remission for individuals who had pediatric cancer. Within this theme there are two subthemes: (1) Do their effects affect me? and (2) "You realize what's important and it sticks with you.". Each of these will be discussed in turn.

3.6.1 Do their effects affect me?

Support persons conveyed that they currently experienced no physical effects as a result of being caregivers for pediatric cancer survivors, although some of the mothers present for their children's cancer journeys had experienced physical effects during that time period. Any physical ailments or difficulties experienced by support persons when interviewed were attributed to factors completely separate from their caregiving. Additionally, none of the support persons reported any cognitive effects in relation to their caregiving responsibilities. Conversely, some support persons claimed that they experienced compromised mental or emotional effects as a direct result of their cancer experiences with their survivors. The following quotes illustrated the constant worry and anxiety experienced by the support people.

...he's easy to, make friendships, I think. And in some ways he can be naïve. I sometimes am concerned because I think he, trusts people, too much. And not everyone has good intentions, and most people do! But you just have to be careful. Um, and I don't always know if he, can, read those signals? **~Margaret** (Mother of Dan)

...I mean my life has definitely become more stressful, 'cause I worry about him and I worry every time we go to a doctor's appointment to see if it's come back and, but like, [sighs] I would say my way of handling it hasn't really changed. ~Catherine (Fiancée of Justin) Mentally probably just, with, with the stress factor, and, 'cause you're always going always worried. Um, even now, you know when his, he has to go for his check-up I don't go with him. But I want him to text me and let me know [laughs] that everything's okay. ~Lisa (Mother of Joey)

Meryl believed that in being with Savannah during her cancer experience, she managed

stress differently and became emotionally distant in order to protect herself from being

hurt.

...I can probably tell you that I handle things differently. In terms of emotion. Um, I maybe, set, set things a little further away from me and maybe don't, don't let myself in, as, as often or as deeply as I once did. ~**Meryl** (Mother of Savannah)

Barbara developed severe anxiety and post-traumatic stress disorder as a result of Danielle's

cancer experience, conditions that she still lives with today.

I've suffered post-traumatic stress disorder. [pause, lowers voice] Yeah, yeah it's been bad. I've been going to a psychiatrist ever since....I still get flashbacks....it still causes me anxiety....my psychiatrist is in [city] and when I drive that way past the hospital I still get anxiety. And I'm still on medication. ~**Barbara** (Mother of Danielle)

Conversely, Beth reported that her experiences aided her in coping with stress.

...you know you can kind of laugh at some of the things that, you're about to worry about...little minor details about you know, um 'oh I have to get this I have to get that' and you think 'well why am I stressing about that?' **~Beth** (Mother of Abby)

It was evident that support persons very deeply cared for the survivors, and as such, experienced

some psychological effects in caring for them, effects that persisted past the treatment phases

and to the present time.

Like survivors, more than half of the support persons also felt that aspects of their lives had changed as a result of caring for their survivors. Other support persons stated that aspects of their lives were simply reinforced, rather than changed. Regardless of their presence during the cancer experiences, those who admitted experiencing changes acknowledged that aspects of their personalities had changed, primarily for the better. Shannon, having been diagnosed with breast cancer after Stephen's cancer experience, knew that going through the experience with

him helped prepare her for her treatment.

Definitely I think you um, you're hyper vigilant, over little things....I, guess I saw a more personal side of medicine, that, um, yeah I respected that so. I expected that when I started my treatments, that nothing would be held back. That I would be, um, responsible for my care as much as the oncologist. So yeah it did affect my personality. **~Shannon** (Mother of Stephen)

Catherine became more accepting and tolerant of others, as she knew that anyone could have

faced a hard battle unbeknownst to her.

...I would say I'm more aware of things now like...because, if you look at Justin from the outside like he looks happy he looks normal he looks, like you would never know he had cancer before....I've just learned that there's a lot under the surface to people that you don't, necessarily, see, or know of, but it can be there. **~Catherine** (Fiancée of Justin)

Chris became more protective of Alyssa.

...I'm more aware like I have a lot of friends who smoke cigarettes, um so I'm more aware of that kind of thing when we go out. [I] try to like keep her away from that second-hand smoke a lot. ~Chris (Boyfriend of Alyssa)

Lisa and Barbara learned to advocate for their children. Although addressing the past, both Lisa

and Barbara believed this allowed them to continue advocating for their children and other

family members going through medical treatments to this day.

You have to learn to be patient [laughs] or more patient. Um, and you have to learn to advocate. If you don't understand something, or or, Joey didn't understand something, you had to push for an answer....So y-you, learn to advocate more so that was a, a good thing on my part. ~Lisa (Mother of Joey)

...I was very – well, hyper vigilant probably but, I was so careful. I went to every test with her and checked everything and, yeah...you really have to advocate for your children because, and they even said that to me the kids that do well are the ones that have parents who really advocate for them. And it's the poor little ones in there that don't have anybody watching for them that don't do well. **~Barbara** (Mother of Danielle) The support persons were in consensus that overall, they experienced changes as a result of providing care to pediatric cancer survivors. For some, the changes were mental in nature, while others shared that their personalities had changed.

3.6.2 "You realize what's important and it sticks with you."

Most support persons believed that their perspectives on life, as well as aspects of their lives that they valued, had changed because of their roles as support persons. More specifically, support persons discussed that they were more appreciative of the lives they have. Some of the support persons discussed how they valued their family and friends more than ever before as a result of their role as a caregiver for a pediatric cancer survivor.

...you have to make time for yourself and your friends and your family and, all this, running around and doing things for nothing is just, crazy. Like getting caught up in all that craziness of the world it's just, you have to take time. **~Barbara** (Mother of Michelle)

...I think sort of spending time with each other, being a part of each other's, you know day to day life. I mean we value all those things. We did in the past, but uh, I think it's a lot stronger now. ~Beth (Mother of Abby)

...you just, realize...what's important. And you, go through those things, and you have, you know, you hug your kids every day, and...maybe you live in the moment a little more, uh and you understand...that emotion, and family, and people, are the most important...everything else can come and go. ~**Meryl** (Mother of Savannah)

After Dan's surgery, and still to this day, it was all about the little things that happen in life.

Margaret commented:

I remember driving up a country road and smelling the flowers and I, we, stopped...I would have the kids in the vehicle and I would stop and go and we'd be sniffing the flowers, and it made me realize that, right now was all we have, and, it's, it's not the, how much, how big your house is or, how many cars you have or, a place in Florida or, how many trips you take a year, it's the little things, that are really important, and that's, what I've learnt. ~Margaret (Mother of Dan) Once again, those who acknowledged that their values changed all agreed that it was for the

better. Mothers believed they developed new outlooks on life. For Lisa, she had taken on a new

life motto after caring for Joey.

...my new motto is uh, I get up and face the day and I, know there are days that I need a, kick in the butt but, somewhere somebody somewhere, has it worse than I do...that became my motto when we were going through this with Joey because you're, you're looking at, the ambulances that are coming in you're looking at, the families that have lost, their children and that's like, it sucks. But, he's still here. We're fighting it. You know, somebody, somebody's having a worse day than I am. And that's the, my new philosophy. ~Lisa (Mother of Joey)

Some mothers embraced appreciating the smaller things, and take time for those who were

important in their lives.

...it changes, how you view the world like it makes you, appreciate what you have. It makes you [pause] it really gives you a different, perspective like you really, you make time for people. Like, one phone call can change your, your life right? Like I was driving home from work and I got that call, and your world stops. Like, it, it makes you take time for things. **~Barbara** (Mother of Danielle)

...you really put things into perspective. And you really understand, uh what's important. Um, in life at that point and [clears throat] and everything else, disappears. Um, and you feel, petty, you know for some of those things that you used to uh, you used to think about or that u-used to bother you or worry you. So, in terms of of figuring **that** out, that's something, that impacted my life. ~**Meryl** (Mother of Savannah)

...people will come in and say 'oh I've turned 65' and I'll say 'congratulations. It's really good to celebrate a birthday.' You know? It's, it's so precious. And, that's what I learned. From, Dan's diagnosis, and, through all of this and seeing, different, um, different children at [hospital] who weren't coming home, who were affected by their, brain tumours, so much, more, and um, where they, you know they, they needed so much assistance. Dan's independent, and we're blessed. ~Margaret (Mother of Dan)

While some support persons believed that aspects of their lives remained consistent while

supporting their survivors currently, many of them felt some sort of change in some part of their

lives. And, although few support persons addressed the psychological effects they experienced,

most agreed that the changes they underwent and were currently experiencing were positive, and

for the better.

3.7 SUMMARY

The purpose of this study was to examine the lived experiences of the perceived longterm effects of pediatric cancer on adult survivors and whether these effects had bearing on their primary support persons. Nineteen individuals (ten pediatric cancer survivors and nine support persons) were recruited for the study, and took part in one-on-one semi-structured interviews. From the verbatim transcription and subsequent data analysis of these interviews, four themes emerged: (1) "There wasn't a lot of time to sit and think.": The Pediatric Cancer Experience, (2) "There is no before cancer…there's only cancer."; (3) "I don't know if I would change it."; and (4) "As long as you need me I'm yours.". It is important to note that although the cancer experiences of all of the survivors and support persons were unique, themes emerged that were consistent within each of their stories.

All of the themes and subthemes illuminated a variety of effects that were experienced by both survivors and their support persons. For survivors, undergoing their pediatric cancer experiences altered aspects of their health, personalities, and their schooling and career choices. All participants gravitated towards careers that allowed them to give back in some way, and some of the survivors acknowledged going above and beyond with volunteer and extracurricular work to help others going through similar experiences. Support persons, although not as deeply affected as the survivors, illustrated some of the effects that they experienced due to their roles as caregivers. Some experienced negative psychological effects, however many acknowledged that there were positive aspects to their experiences that changed in their personalities and outlooks on life.

CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION

4.1 COMPARISON TO PREVIOUS LITERATURE

These research findings, predicated on the narratives of pediatric cancer survivors and their primary support persons, revealed the existence of late effects among all participants as a result of their experiences with pediatric cancer. The survivors' and support persons' recollections of the time period in which survivors were undergoing treatment also added further context to the ways in which they perceive and experience their current effects. When describing their past experiences with cancer, the side effects experienced by survivors included, but were not limited to hair loss (alopecia), extreme weight gain or weight loss, nausea and vomiting, lethargy, and mood swings. Additionally, some faced the possibility of death during their experiences due to the aggressive nature of both their diagnoses and treatments. In addition to the physical effects, survivors also shared the social effects resulting from their cancer treatments. These effects have been discussed previously in the pediatric cancer literature (see, for example, Canadian Cancer Society, 2008; Childhood Cancer Canada Foundation, 2011; Miller, 2002; Monteleone & Meadows, 2007).

Previous research has discussed that children who undergo cancer treatments may endure potentially negative behaviors from their classmates and friends during their journeys, like teasing, or loss of friendships (Janes-Hodder & Keene, 2002). In the case of the current survivors, a few were bullied during their elementary and high school years as a result of the cancer effects, making their living nightmares even more difficult. Although the literature is relatively void of "bullying" in the pediatric cancer literature, this finding is important for the education system and parents in order to aid in accommodating children with cancer, not only for the individuals themselves, but for their classmates and peers as well. This finding is of particular importance, as it could aid in the development of a zero-tolerance bullying policy in all school systems, regardless of the conditions or characteristics of the children being bullied. As well, informational resources for school administrators, teachers, and classmates of children with cancer could be provided to school systems in order to properly accommodate and handle a case of a student facing pediatric cancer.

The mothers and grandmother present during the cancer experiences described the time period as a "nightmare" or "rollercoaster of emotion". This finding was echoed by Woodgate (2006), who interviewed parents during the duration of their children's cancer treatments. The parents described how the cancer diagnosis and treatment were a blur, and that the time period of their children's illnesses were primarily negative for them and their families (Woodgate, 2006). Interestingly, when speaking to the survivors about what they recalled from the time period (with regards to their family functioning), they addressed the strength and unity that their families had shown while they were ill. Survivors understood that the time period in which they were sick was extremely trying for their families, but even amongst the turmoil, they remembered the love that they had felt from their families. This notion is significant when examining pediatric cancer literature, as few findings are from the perspective of the individuals who underwent treatment, and, further, recognized the strength of their families during the time period. As well, the negatives often overshadow the positives that emerge in pediatric cancer literature. These results are not meant to downplay the anguish that families experience during pediatric cancer, but to highlight the aspects of their cancer journeys that kept them strong and provided some semblance of normalcy during such a difficult time.

Results from this study further supported the optimism of the participants. When asked to recall memories from their pediatric cancer experiences, many individuals in this study recalled

a positive memory. Seven of the survivors and five of the support persons were able to recall simple memories, such as playing games, dancing in their hospital rooms, and spending time together during treatment, and these prevailed as some of their strongest memories. There is a paucity of research that focuses on the positive aspects, or memories of individuals who underwent the pediatric cancer process. As such it is of importance to emphasize that health care professionals may need to encourage families to continue to function as "normally", or attempt to maintain as much positivity as possible during their cancer journeys to provide some aspects of joy in such a trying time.

All individuals in the study described the current lives of the pediatric cancer survivors as adults. Coinciding with previous literature (Armenian, Meadows, & Bhatia, 2011; Geenen et al., 2007; Hudson et al., 2013; Oeffinger et al., 2006; Robison et al., 2005; Yi et al., 2014) survivors stated that they had experienced a variety of physical effects as a result of their cancer treatments. Some of these effects included but were not limited to bone aches and pains, avascular necrosis, ataxia, amputations and hip replacements, and stunted growth. However, Oeffinger et al (2006), found that 73.4% of individuals who lived through their pediatric cancer developed at least one chronic condition thirty years after treatment (Oeffinger et al., 2006). This relates to a small number of survivors in this study, who conveyed that they experienced little to no late effects from their treatments. It is important to note that the participants in this study were young adults between the ages of 21 and 28, and there is the possibility that they had not yet experienced late effects that may develop later in life. Oeffinger (2006) also contends that as age increases, so does the likelihood of developing late effects from pediatric cancer. Yet, having the survivors personally voice how they live with their effects and provide the framework for their day-to-day living differs from many previous works (see, for example, Dieluweit et al.,

2010; Geenen et al., 2006; Oeffinger et al., 2006; Yi et al., 2014) which examined late effects through quantitative means. This qualitative data collection method allowed for all survivors to provide contextual meaning around their effects, and for support persons to corroborate these effects. Further, the current research examined the psychological, cognitive, and social health effects, which has rarely been discussed in one cohesive study. This displays a need for more research that not only addresses the multifaceted nature of late effects from pediatric cancer, but also for one that is longitudinal in nature in order to monitor survivors at multiple time points to examine the progression or development of any late effects.

While still speaking to the health effects, the survivors and their support persons acknowledged that the survivors experienced some psychological effects as a result of their cancer experiences, particularly anxiety, depression, and survivor's guilt. Similarly, past works (Dieluweit et al., 2010; Geenen et al., 2006; Yi et al., 2014) have found that individuals who had pediatric cancer may experience negative mental health outcomes. When addressing survivor's guilt, it is important to note that while it is not legitimately a diagnosable disease or ailment, individuals who have faced cancer often feel guilty for surviving when other individuals they knew did not (Baker et al., 1999; Cantrell & Conte, 2009; Holland & Reznik, 2005). Cantrell and Conte (2009) contend that individuals who undergo a pediatric cancer experience may develop survivor's guilt when seeing their peers pass away from cancer, which was the case with some participants in this study. However, Cantrell & Conte (2009) reveal that individuals may also experience guilt from putting their families, especially their mothers, through their cancer experiences. The participants in this study did not mention feelings of guilt for having their families undergo these experiences – rather, when speaking about their families and their past cancer experiences, they were glad that they were the ones experiencing the cancer instead of

their family members. Additionally, many survivors stated that the experiences drew their families closer together. This was found by Fletcher (2011), who discussed how mothers of children who had cancer believed that going through such an ordeal had brought their families closer together and strengthened their relationships. Orbuch et al. (2005) also found that individuals who had or developed strong relationships with their family members during their period of illness were more likely to have a better overall well-being post-cancer. The results of this study coincide with this data - most of the participants recruited someone who was present for their cancer experiences to participate in this study as a support person, and subsequently discussed the closeness of their family as a result of their cancer. Survivors stated that their cancer strengthened their families and brought them closer together, and, as a result, they now valued their families more. Further, reflecting on the tremendously optimistic attitudes of the participants, some stated their cancer experiences allowed them to cope with stress-inducing situations better, and as such are more prepared to handle difficult experiences. It is important to note that much of the previous research that addresses psychological effects experienced were conducted outside of Canada (Geenen et al., 2007; Oeffinger et al., 2006, Yi et al, 2014). The Canadian health care system has made vast strides in encouraging those with mental health issues to be open about their experiences, whereas some of the countries from which studies addressed mental health outcomes may not have such an accepting culture surrounding psychological health (i.e. Yi et al., 2014).

Survivors also spoke about the cognitive difficulties they experience as a result of their treatments. In particular, chemotherapy drugs can affect memory and concentration, which is also known as "chemo-brain" (Boykoff, Moieni, & Subramanian, 2009; Hede, 2008). This effect was reflected in the stories of the survivors in this study, who stated that they experienced

chemo-brain, difficulties with visual scanning memory resulting from treatment, and issues with their short-term memory. Additionally, a few survivors spoke of their learning disabilities that developed as a result of treatment, or were exacerbated by treatment, which has also been discussed by Robison et al. (2005) and Landier, Armenian, & Bhatia (2015).

When examining the social effects of pediatric cancer, Baker et al. (1999) and Dieluweit et al. (2010) reported that oftentimes, it has been shown to delay individuals – that is, slow the development of maturity, as well as the attainment of certain milestones, such as completing school or developing social skills. However, the participants in this study were positive about the social effects pediatric cancer had on their lives. Although some participants admittedly missed years of schooling due to their treatments, survivors reflected on their social development and believed that aspects, such as maturity, was ranked as either on par or ahead of their peers. Support persons reiterated that the participants were very mature from a young age because of their cancer. This is somewhat similar to the results found by Quin (2005) who discussed how parents of individuals who had pediatric cancer found that their maturity levels had changed positively because of their experiences. However, the maturity of the survivors in this study could be seen as both positive and negative. Undergoing such an ordeal as children and potentially missing a part of their childhood, and having to mature as a result is undeniably negative. However, having heightened maturity at the current age of the survivors in this study could be perceived as an asset. Although the survivors in this study did not explicitly state their perspectives on their heightened maturity levels, they admitted that they developed a better understanding of the world they lived in and the fragility of life itself, which altered their perspectives on life. These results are seemingly novel, as at the time of this study it was

difficult to find literature that discussed the outlook of individuals who had pediatric cancer, and much less the fact that their outlook on life was positive in nature.

All survivors acknowledged that they "give back" to the cancer community or any individuals undergoing a difficult time, as they feel indebted to those who helped them during their cancer journeys, as well as empathetic to others who may be experiencing troubling times. Survivors did this through their career choices, or what they hoped would become their career – many now work in medical settings, or work in positions that allow them to help others. The participants with these careers stated that they did so because of their experiences with cancer, and if they had not been exposed to some of the careers that they witnessed while undergoing treatment, they would never have strived to hold their current positions. Additionally, survivors stated that they now volunteer specifically to help others, or to help those currently going through pediatric cancer. Many volunteer with organizations such as the Canadian Cancer Society, participate in survivorship camps and support groups, and act as peer mentors to other individuals who currently have cancer. Many of the support persons acknowledged that the participants wanted to give back because of their experiences, and for some, it was their life purpose. Fletcher (2011) discussed how mothers of children with cancer found it extremely important to give back to society after their children had completed treatment in order to help others who were facing the same scenarios. Also, when speaking to giving back, participants had the opportunity to provide advice to others going through or who had gone through pediatric cancer. The optimistic natures of the survivors in this study were present in their responses, which were consistent in their advice of "staying positive". Saleh & Brockopp (2001), when studying adult cancer patients awaiting bone marrow transplantation, found that the participants' optimistic nature and positivity throughout their treatment fostered their hope for their futures.

This positivity allowed Saleh & Brockopp's adult participants to view their cancer treatment from a more optimistic light, once again fostering beliefs that participants would successfully be treated for their cancer (2001).

Speaking in regards to the word survivor, the National Coalition of Cancer Survivorship (NCCS) states that, "from the time of its discovery and for the balance of life, an individual diagnosed with cancer is a survivor" (1986). In medical terms, the word survivor in regards to cancer refers to an individual who has been cancer-free for at least five years (Rowland, 2007; Twombley, 2004). All individuals in the study were asked to provide their definitions of survivor, as the term is very often associated with individuals who have experienced cancer (Bartels, 2009). Most of the survivors and support persons, when providing their definitions of survivor, discussed how the term was a source of pride. This is consistent with the views of Twombley (2004), who further stated that the term survivor could be empowering. The three individuals (Dan, Stephen, and Sharon - Stephen's mother) who did not consider themselves to be cancer survivors were not alone in their stances, as research conducted by Bartels (2009) conveyed that individuals may not want to identify as a survivor because it creates a direct linkage between their past disease and current identity. Further, persons may want to identify in a way that acknowledged that they previously had cancer, but their cancer did not define them as individuals (Bartels, 2009). As conveyed by Dan, it could be said that the term survivor is a matter of "semantics". Regardless of whether or not an individual refers to himself or herself as a survivor, he or she lived past the cancer diagnosis, or "survived" the cancer experience.

The support persons involved in this study, regardless of whether or not they were present during the cancer experiences, had stated that their lives had been affected as a result of caring for an individual who previously had pediatric cancer. Past literature has shown that support persons (primarily parents) of individuals who had pediatric cancer mainly experienced mental or emotional effects (see, for example, Clarke & Fletcher, 2003; Kazak et al., 1997; Wijnber-Williams et al., 2005; Van Dongen-Melman, Van Zuuren & Verhulst, 1998; Pelcovitz et al., 1996). However, all of this literature addresses parents or caregivers that were present during the cancer experiences, and not persons that survivors may rely on in their current lives. Some support persons admitted that although their survivors' pediatric cancer journeys were over, they still experienced worry for them. This worry was primarily in regards to the survivors' health. Support people were not necessarily concerned that they would relapse, but more so that the late effects of their cancer may become worse, that they were not as careful with their health as they should be, or that the late effects had not yet been expressed. This is supported by the findings presented by Wijnber-Williams et al. (2005), who found that even after treatment, parents of pediatric cancer survivors still experienced clinical levels of stress in their day-to-day lives regarding their children, although levels were lower than the time of cancer treatment. Additionally, Van Dongen-Melman, Van Zuuren, & Verhulst (1998) reported that parents of children who had pediatric cancer have difficulty returning to a state of mental normalcy, meaning, they no longer feel completely relaxed, and question their abilities to cope should another traumatic event affect their lives (Dongen-Melman, Van Zuuren, & Verhulst, 1998). Further, Pelcovitz et al. (1996) conveyed that mothers of pediatric cancer survivors entering the maintenance phase of treatment had a higher prevalence of post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) compared to mothers of "healthy" children. These findings are consistent with findings from Kilpatrick et al., (1989) who found that individuals were more likely to develop PTSD if there was a higher possibility of death of a family member due to a threatening circumstance. These results coincide with the experiences of Barbara from this study, whose daughter,

Danielle, nearly died multiple times throughout the progression of her cancer treatment. It is important to note that some support persons explained that they felt they were now better equipped to handle stressful situations, as learning to cope through the cancer experience allowed them to develop better mechanisms of dealing with stress. This finding is of importance to health care professionals, who should be equipped to aid support persons of pediatric cancer patients and survivors, especially when the responses of each individual affected will differ. As such, health care professionals should be prepared for the variety of reactions and effects not only in survivors, but support persons or caregivers as well.

When discussing other aspects in which their daily living had been affected in caring for their survivors, the support persons were extremely positive in their narratives. Some of the support persons stated that their personalities had changed. For Chris and Catherine, who were not present during their significant others' cancer experiences, they stated that they were more aware and considerate towards others. In getting to know their survivors, they learned that it was difficult to truly know what individuals have gone through in their lives. Additionally, support persons who were present at the time of cancer treatment admitted that they had become more patient, and better advocates for their family members. Overall, all support persons felt that their treatment of other people changed as a result of their experiences, and that these changes were for the better.

Further, support persons acknowledge that their values had changed. Some state that they appreciate their families more and make a concerted effort to spend more time with their family and friends. The same results were discussed in a paper by Fletcher (2011), in which mothers discussed how their family and friend groups became extremely supportive during their children's cancer treatment, and that appreciation for their supports continued after the child had

completed treatment. Moreover, the support persons in this study stated that they lived their lives differently now, as they discussed how they valued life more, and appreciated how precious life can be. Fletcher (2011) discussed similar changes with her mothers' outlooks on life. The mothers discussed how they approached situations with positivity, did not stress over the small things, and, for those whose children lived, were beyond grateful. It is important to note that Fletcher (2011) discussed the perspectives of mothers whose children had just finished treatment, or had passed away from their cancer. Although Fletcher's sample was not entirely similar to the study at hand, the findings mirror the opinions of the support persons.

4.2 LIMITATIONS

There are some limitations in this research that need to be addressed. This study examined the experiences of survivors of pediatric cancer, as well as their current primary support persons. The cohort of primary support persons included individuals who were present during the cancer experiences (six mothers and one grandmother), as well as individuals who were not (one boyfriend and one fiancée). Due to this, the experiences of the support persons were not necessarily similar. The recruitment of only support persons present during the cancer diagnosis and treatment may potentially allow for greater information regarding how families cope when a member is diagnosed with cancer, as well as currently. However, it is still important to note that the experiences of each support person are multifaceted and unique in nature. As well, the survivors in this study were asked to recruit their current primary support person in order to provide the most in-depth perceptions regarding the survivors' late effects affecting them presently.

Additionally, the information presented in this study reflects the point of view of only one support person, one of who may not have been present during the cancer experience.

Information obtained from additional family members and other support persons present during cancer treatment would have allowed for a greater understanding of the effect that pediatric cancer has on survivors and their families, including siblings, fathers, and extended family and friends.

Further, most of the survivors that were recruited were members of a support group for individuals who had pediatric cancer. Due to this, there is a possibility that the individuals in this sample were more likely to embrace their cancer experiences, or more likely to participate in schooling, career, and volunteer activities pertaining to their cancer experiences, such as volunteering to participate in this study. As a result, the views of these survivors may not be reflective of individuals who had pediatric cancer and do not participate in activities related to their experiences.

Lastly, the majority of the research discussed the late effects that were experienced (and may continue to be experienced) by pediatric cancer survivors and their support persons. Effects and experiences that are not currently being experienced would be retrospective in nature. This may have limited the recollection of the survivors and support persons specifically concerning the time period in which they were undergoing cancer treatment, and their experiences during said time. As such, some details may not have been present in their narratives.

4.3 IMPLICATIONS

This study provides substantial contributions to literature surrounding pediatric cancer and pediatric cancer survivorship, as well as literature regarding families and caregivers for individuals who underwent pediatric cancer. As the survival rates of pediatric cancer continue to rise, so will the number of individuals experiencing a myriad of late effects resulting from their treatments. With this, survivors will need assistance and care navigating the health care system and making accommodations for the physical, psychological, and cognitive effects they experience from their treatments, potentially for the remainder of their lives. Further, this research provides information to health care providers concerning how to better adapt support and resources for survivors for the time period beyond remission. This study also supports previous research that contends that not all effects of pediatric cancer treatment are negative in nature. Many individuals were able to recognize the silver linings that came about as a result of their past diagnoses, which can provide encouragement to those currently undergoing their own pediatric cancer journeys.

Additionally, the research presented is of importance for policy makers in government legislation and health care professionals. This study reiterates the importance of ensuring that pediatric cancer survivors have access to resources or support for their entire lives, and not just within the time period that they are undergoing treatment. As time progresses, the likelihood of developing additional effects as a result of past treatments is heightened, and knowing that there are resources available to cater to the unique experiences of each survivor later in life would be beneficial. To add, this study suggests that individuals caring for a pediatric cancer survivor may experience stress or health effects as a result of being support persons. This research illustrates that caregivers may experience the need for help in balancing the care for their pediatric cancer survivor, as well as additional family members as time progresses. It would be favorable for policy makers to create a framework that allows for caregivers of cancer survivors to have access to additional health care resources or support networks tailored to their specific caregiving needs. Additionally, as the nature of providing care is often multifaceted in nature, ensuring that any resources or supports for caregivers are accessible at all times would also be beneficial.

As well, this study provides valuable information for school administrators, teachers, and peers for individuals going through, or who have completed pediatric cancer treatment. School systems **could** provide assistance to children with pediatric cancer, including children or adolescents that are experiencing late effects, as their ability to complete their schoolwork may be compromised. Additionally, this research provides insight for teachers and peers to understand the pediatric cancer process, and how to familiarize themselves with the effects that cancer may have on children and adolescents. Lastly, the study acts as a platform for zero-tolerance policies on bullying in schools. The research revealed that children with cancer might potentially be bullied because of their cancer, and as such school systems and administrators may find this research beneficial in creating policies for all children so that they are not bullied because of their differences.

Moreover, the implications of this study are of importance to parents, family members, and significant others of individuals who had pediatric cancer. The development of support networks and resources available to caregivers of pediatric cancer survivors can provide immense help in understanding how to help with their late effects. Further, this research provides context for health care professionals in understanding that pediatric cancer survivors and their support networks may both experience effects from pediatric cancer.

Lastly, individuals who are currently going through, have gone through, or are supporting someone through their cancer experiences can take comfort in knowing that there are many others currently experiencing the same phenomenon. Their stories and experiences acknowledge the fact that pediatric cancer diagnoses, treatment, and life thereafter has silver linings that shine through the dark clouds of their past treatments and current late effects.

4.4 FUTURE RESEARCH

Currently, the majority of research surrounding pediatric cancer survivorship is quantitative in nature, and places substantial emphasis on the negative effects that individuals experience both during and after their treatments. Additionally, literature addressing the effects of pediatric cancer on caregivers primarily discusses the effects on the family members, or those who were present during the diagnosis and treatment time period. Once again, the majority of this literature is negative in nature. Most research addressing life after pediatric cancer is often conducted within a few years of the time period in which the participants completed their treatment. It would be beneficial to study individuals at later time intervals after their treatments, in order to examine the changes that occur over time. Lastly, from a methodological perspective, other than the flagship study conducted by Oeffinger et al., (2006), very few studies are longitudinal. Completing a longitudinal study that allowed for an examination of late effects over time would be fundamental in adding to the pediatric cancer literature. Tracking survivors at multiple time points past remission (eg. two, five, and ten years post-treatment) in order to examine how, and what types of late effects emerge as time progresses for pediatric cancer survivors would be beneficial.

It is imperative to continue to use qualitative research methods in studying health phenomena such as the pediatric cancer experience. By using the voices of survivors, researchers and health care providers can obtain a more extensive, holistic picture of the pediatric cancer experience and its subsequent effects. Additionally, research must continue to acknowledge the positives in order that individuals and their families facing pediatric cancer can use such works as a light at the end of the long, dark tunnel that they face.

4.5 CONCLUSION

This study aids in adding to past works regarding individuals who experienced pediatric cancer by providing evidence that the late effects of pediatric cancer are varied and complex in nature. All of the individuals in this study conveyed that their lives had been changed in some way as a result of their pediatric cancer experiences. The survivors were able to provide immense detail of how their lives had been altered by cancer both positively and negatively in reflecting upon their past and current experiences. Additionally, support persons stated that they were all negatively affected, but overall the also reaped benefits being support persons.

In conclusion, this study reveals how pediatric cancer radiates through individuals to affect not only themselves and their immediate support persons, but those who survivors help as well. The pediatric cancer experience undeniably takes, in physical, psychological, and cognitive ways, but for these participants, it also gave – it gave them their career aspirations, life purposes, and deeper understandings of the preciousness of life itself. The results and implications of this research could not be summed up better than by Joey, who when speaking about cancer, simply stated:

It's a word. Not a sentence.

References

- Alderfer, M.A., Labay, L.E., and Kazak, A.E. (2003). Brief Report: Does Posttraumatic Stress Apply to Siblings of Childhood Cancer Survivors? *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 28(4): 281-286.
- Armenian, S.H., Meadows, A.T., & Bhatia, S. (2011). Late effects of childhood cancer and its treatment. *Principles and Practice of Pediatric Oncology*, 6th Ed. Philadelphia, Pa: Lippincott, Williams, & Wilkins: 1368-1387.
- American Society of Clinical Oncology (2014). Childhood Cancer: Overview. Retrieved January 6, 2014, from: http://www.cancer.net/cancer-types/childhood-cancer/overview
- Baker, F., et al. (1999). Reintegration After Bone Marrow Transplantation. *Cancer Practice*, 7(4):190-197.
- Boykoff, N., Moieni, M., & Subramanian, S.K. (2009). Confronting chemobrain: an in-depth look at survivors' reports of impact on work, social networks, and health care response. *J Cancer Surviv*, 3: 223-232.
- Bartels, E.C. (2009). Outside the box: Surviving survival. *Literature and Medicine*, 28(2): 237-252.
- Bray, J. (2009). Meeting Report: Paediatric/Adolescent/Young Adult Cancer: A Pan-Canadian Initiative. Canadian Institutes of Health Research, CIHR Institute of Cancer Research, 1-25.
- Buka, I. (2009). Children and Cancer: Children's Health and the Environment. *World Health Organization*. Retrieved from: http://www.who.int/ceh/capacity/cancer.pdf
- Canadian Cancer Society/National Cancer Institute of Canada: Canadian Cancer Statistics 2008, Toronto, Canada, 2008.
- Canadian Cancer Society (2015). Childhood Cancer Statistics. Retrieved February 6, 2015, from: http://www.cancer.ca/en/cancer-information/cancer-type/childhood-cancerinformation/statistics/?region=on
- Canadian Cancer Society (2016). Cognitive changes and chemotherapy. Retrieved February 4, 2016, from: http://www.cancer.ca/en/cancer-information/diagnosis-and-treatment/chemotherapy-and-other-drug-therapies/chemotherapy/side-effects-of-chemotherapy/cognitive-changes-and-chemotherapy/?region=on
- Canadian Cancer Society's Advisory Committee on Cancer Statistics. Canadian Cancer Statistics 2014. Toronto, ON: Canadian Cancer Society; 2014

- Canadian Institutes of Health Research (2014). The Late Effects of Childhood Cancer Treatments Initiative. Retrieved April 25, 2015, from: http://www.cihrirsc.gc.ca/e/45844.html.
- Cantrell, M.A., and Conte, T.M. (2009). Between Being Cured and Being Healed: The Paradox of Childhood Cancer Survivorship. *Qualitative Health Research*, 19(3): 312-322.
- Childhood Cancer Canada Foundation (2011).*Facts and Figures*. Retrieved January 2, 2015, from Childhood Cancer Canada Foundation.
- Childhood Cancer Canada Foundation (2011).*How is Childhood Cancer Treated*? Retrieved January 2, 2015, from Childhood Cancer Canada Foundation.
- Clarke, J., and Fletcher, P.C. (2003). When Your Child Has Cancer: A Discussion of Factors That Affect Mothers' Abilities to Cope. *Journal of Psychosocial Oncology*, 21(3): 81-99.
- Clarke, J. N., Fletcher, P.C., & Schneider, M.A. (2005). Mothers' Home Health Care Work When Their Children Have Cancer. *Journal of Pediatric Oncology Nursing*, 22(6): 365-373.
- Cohn, R.J. et al (2003). Hidden financial costs in treatment of childhood cancer: An Australian study of lifestyle implications for families absorbing out-of-pocket expenses. *Journal of Paediatric Haematology Oncology*, 25(11): 854-863.
- Creswell, J.W. (2013). Qualitative Inquiry & Research Design: Choosing Among the Five Approaches. California: Sage Publications.
- Dieluweit, U. et al. (2010). Social outcomes of long-term survivors of adolescent cancer. *Psycho-Oncology*, 19: 1277-1284.
- Dockerty, J.D., Skegg, D.C.G., & Williams, S.M. (2003). Economic effects of childhood cancer on families. *Journal of Pediatric Child Health*, 39: 254-258.
- Fletcher, P.C. (2010). My child has cancer: the costs of mothers' experiences of having a child with pediatric cancer. *Issues in Comprehensive Pediatric Nursing*, 33: 164-184.
- Fletcher, P.C. (2011). My child has cancer: finding the silver lining in every mother's nightmare. *Issues in Comprehensive Pediatric Nursing*, 34:40-55.
- Fletcher, P.C., Schneider, M.A., & Harry, R.J. (2010). How Do I Cope? Factors Affecting Mothers' Abilities to Cope With Pediatric Cancer. *Journal of Pediatric Oncology Nursing*, 27(5): 285-298.
- Geenen, M. et al. (2007). Medical Assessment of Adverse Health Outcomes in Long-term Survivors of Childhood Cancer. *American Medical Association*, 297(24): 2705-2715.

- Hede, K. (2008). Chemobrain Is Real but May Need New Name. J Natl Cancer Inst, 100(3): 162-163, 169.
- Holland, J.C., and Reznik, I. (2005). Pathways for Psychosocial Care for Cancer Survivors. *Cancer*, 104(11):2624-2637.
- Holloway, I. (2005). Qualitative Research in Health Care. Berkshire, England: Open University Press.
- Hudson, M.M, et al. (2013). Clinical ascertainment of health outcomes among adults treated for childhood cancer. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 309: 2371-2381.
- Janes-Hodder, H., & Keene, N. (2002). Childhood Cancer: A Parent's Guide to Solid Tumor Cancers. Sebastopol, CA: O'Reilly Media, Inc.
- Janesick, V.J. (1999). A Journal About Journal Writing as a Qualitative Research Technique: History, Issues, and Reflections. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 5:505-524.
- Kazak, A.E., et al. (1997). Posttraumatic Stress, Family Functioning, and Social Support in Survivors of Childhood Leukemia and Their Mothers and Fathers. *Journal of Consulting* and Clinical Psychology, 65(1): 120-129.
- Kilpatrick, D.G., et al. (1989). Victim and crime factors associated with the development of crime-related posttraumatic stress disorder. *Behaviour Therapy*, 20: 199-214.
- Landier, W., Armenian, S., & Bhatia, S. (2015). Late Effects of Childhood Cancer and Its Treatment. *Pediatr Clin N Am*, 62: 75-300.
- Lincoln, Y., and Guba, E.G. (1985). Naturalistic Inquiry. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- McCubbin, M. (2002). Family Resiliency in Childhood Cancer. *Family Relations*, 51(2): 103-111.
- Miller, R.E. (2012). Side effects of chemo and radiation. *The Nemours Foundation*. Retreived February 19, from: http://kidshealth.org/parent/medical/cancer/side_effects.html#
- Monteleone, P.M., & Meadows, A.T. (2007). Late effects of childhood cancer and treatment. Retrieved February 14, 2016, from: https://njlmn.rutgers.edu/cdr/docs/Late_Effects-Childhood_Cancer-PKamalakar.pdf.
- Morse, J.M. (1995). Editorial: The Significance of Saturation. *Qualitative Health Research*, 5(2): 17-149.
- National Cancer Institute (2015) *Cancer in Children and Adolescents*. Retrieved March 7, 2015, from: http://www.cancer.gov/cancertopics/factsheet/sites-types/childhood.

NCCS Charter. National Coalition for Cancer Survivorship, 1986.

- Nolan, V.G. et al (2014). Predictors of Future Health-Related Quality of Life in Survivors of Adolescent Cancer. *Pediatric Blood Cancer*, 61: 1891-1894
- Oeffinger, K.C. et al. (2006). Chronic Health Conditions in Adult Survivors of Childhood Cancer. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 355(15): 1572-1582.
- Orbuch, T.L., et al. (2005). Parent-Child Relationships and Quality of Life: Resilience Among Childhood Cancer Survivors. *Family Relations*, 54: 171-183.
- Overholser, J.C., and Fritz, G.K. (1991). The Impact of Childhood Cancer on the Family. *Journal of Psychosocial Oncology*, 8(4):71-85.
- Patterson, J.M., Holm, K.E., and Gurney, J.G. (2004). The impact of childhood cancer on the family: a qualitative analysis of strains, resources, and coping behaviours. *Psycho-Oncology*, 13: 390-407.
- Patton, M.Q. (1999). Enhancing the Quality and Credibility of Qualitative Analysis. *HSR: Health Services Research*, 34(5):1189-1208.
- Patton, M.Q. (2002). Qualitative Research and Evaluation Methods. California: Sage Publications.
- Pelcovitz, D., et al. (1996). Posttraumatic Stress Disorder in Mothers of Pediatric Cancer Survivors. *Psychosomatics*, 37(2): 116-126.
- Phipps, S. (2005).Contexts and challenges in pediatric psychocosial oncology research: Chasing moving targest and embracing "good news" outcomes. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*. 30(1):41-45.
- Public Health Agency of Canada (2013). The Cancer in Young People in Canada Program. Retrieved April 25, 2015, from: http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/cdmc/cancer/childhood_cancer-cancer_enfants-eng.php
- Quin, S. (2005). The Long-Term Psychosocial Effects of Cancer Diagnosis and Treatment on Children and Their Families. *Social Work Visions from Around the Globe: Citizens, Methods, and Approaches*, 39(1-2):129-149.
- Robison, L.L., et al. (2005). Long-Term Outcomes of Adult Survivors of Childhood Cancer Results from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. Supplement to *Cancer*, 104(11): 2557-2564.
- Rowland, J., et al. (2004). Cancer survivorship United States, 1971-2001. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 53(24): 527-529.

- Saleh, U.S., & Brockopp, D.Y. (2001). Hope Among Patients With Cancer Hospitalized for Bone Marrow Transplantation. *Cancer Nursing*, 24(4): 308-314.
- Twombley, R. (2004). What's in a name: Who is a cancer survivor? *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 96(19): 1414-1415.
- Wijnberg-Williams, B.J., et al. (2006). Psychological Adjustment of parents of pediatric cancer patients revisited: Five years later. *Psycho-Oncology*, 15: 1-8.
- Wileson, C.L., et al. (2014). Decline in Physical Activity Level in the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study Cohort. *American Association for Cancer Research*, 23(8), 1627.
- Van Dongen-Melman, J.E.W.M., Van Zuuren, F.J., & Verhulst, F.C. (1998). Experiences of parents of childhood cancer survivors: a qualitative analysis. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 34: 185-200.
- Van Manen, M. (1990). Researching Lived Experience: Human Science for an Action Sensitive Pedagogy. London, Ontario, Canada: The Althouse Press.
- Yi, J., Kim, M.A., and Tian, T. (2014). Perceived long-term and physical health problems after cancer: Adolescent and young adult survivors of childhood cancer in Korea. *European Journal of Oncology Nursing*, 18: 145-150.
- Zeltzer, L.K. et al. (1996). Sibling Adaptation to Childhood Cancer Collaborative Study: Health Outcomes of Siblings of Children With Cancer. *Medical and Pediatric Oncology*, 27: 98-107.

Appendix A

Table 1: A Comp	parison of Quantitative	Long-Term Effect	Studies on Survivors

Researchers:	Oeffinger et al., 2006	Yi et al., 2014	Geenen et al., 2006	Dieluweit et al., 2010
Location	United States	Korea	Netherlands	Germany
Participants	10,397 (survivors) (5593 Males and 4804 Females) 3034 (siblings)	225 (131 Males and 93 Females)	1362 (745 Males and 617 Females)	820 (402 Males and 418 Females)
Age of participants	18 to 48 Mean 26.6	15 to 38 Mean 21.9	No age range given Median 24.4	20 to 46 Mean 30.4
Methods	"List" of physical late effects Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events	Custom questionnaire Medical Outcomes Study Short Form-8	Medical follow-up at late-effects outpatient clinic	Custom questionnaires German Socio-Economic Panel Study Dutch Course of Life Questionnaire
Explanation of Methods	Participants check off their health conditions CTCAE grades events (1=mild, 2=moderate, 3=severe, 4=life- threatening/disabling, 5=fatal)	Questionnaire used to gage perceived health problems MOSSF-8 used to scale certain health problems	Doctors performing follow-up assessed and graded severity of adverse health condition	G-SOEP used as control DCLQ and custom used to gage developmental milestones
Main conclusions	 62.3% of survivors had at least one chronic health condition 27.5% had severe/life-threatening conditions 73.4% incidence 30 years after cancer treatment 	73.1% had at least one health issue; growth issues were most common The higher amount of health problems was associated with lower perceived physical and mental functioning in survivors	 75% had one of more late effect; 24.6% had five or more 40% had at least 1 severe or life threatening condition 	Female survivors had lower psychosexual development compared to controls Survivors were less likely to have children or be married than the controls 14.5% of survivors were infertile due to their cancer

NOTE: All literature was accessed via the Wilfrid Laurier University Library, and found on Web of Science, a database of scientific articles, as well as Google Scholar. Some of the keywords used to access this literature include but are not limited to: childhood cancer, pediatric cancer, late effects, family unit, siblings of children with cancer, physical effects, mental effects, and social effects.

Appendix B Table 2: A Comparison of Quantitative and Qualitative Effect Studies on Mothers and Siblings (Part 1)

Researchers	Alderfer, Labay, & Kazak, 2003	Clarke and Fletcher, 2003	Clarke, Fletcher, & Schneider, 2005	Fletcher, 2010	Fletcher, 2011	Fletcher, Schneider, & Harry, 2010
Location	Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, USA	Southern Ontario, Canada	Southern Ontario, Canada	Southern Ontario, Canada	Southern Ontario, Canada	Southern Ontario, Canada
Participants			9	9		
Age of Participants	Mean 14.2	31 to 46	29 to 50 Mean 39	32 to 47	32 to 47	32 to 47
Methods	Revised Children's Manifest Anxiety Scale Impact of Events Scale-Revised Posttraumatic Stress Disorder Reaction Index Assessment of Life Threat and Treatment Intensity Questionnaire	Telephone interview	Focus groups	Background Questionnaire Interview	Background Questionnaire Interview	Background Questionnaire Interview
Explanation of Methods	RCMAS: Self-report of anxiety IES-R: Intrusive thoughts and avoidance scale PTSD-RI: Parallels diagnostic criteria for PTSD ALTTIQ-rating agreement with statements assessing perceptions of life threat	Researcher spoke to each participant over the phone and recorded conversation	10 groups of ~5 women were interviewed at a time; interviews were recorded	One-on-one, face-to-fact interviews were conducted with each participant; interviews were recorded	One-on-one, face-to-fact interviews were conducted with each participant; interviews were recorded	One-on-one or face-to-face interviews were completed; interviews were recorded
Main conclusions	49% of siblings reported mild post- traumatic stress symptoms and 32% had moderate to severe levels of symptoms	Participants reported feeling angry and stressed and experienced martial and financial issues	Participants left work to care for their child and take on caregiving roles and duties	Families experienced financial, health, and familial issues	Positive aspects of having a child with cancer were discovered	Participants reported fear for the future and appreciating the present

Appendix B Table 2: A Comparison of Quantitative and Qualitative Effect Studies on Mothers and Siblings (Part 2)

Researchers	Patterson, Holm, & Gurney, 2004	Overholser and Fritz, 1991	Zeltzer et al., 1996
Location	Stanford, California, USA	Overholser and Fritz, 1991Minneapolis, Minnesota, USA45 parents (26 mothers, 19 fathers) 26 children (14 male, 12 female) Parents: 32-56 Children: 3.8-26Focus groups7 groups of 5-9 parents were interviewed at a time; interviews were recordedMany families were experiencing financial setbacks years after their child's cancer treatment	Los Angeles, California, USA Houston, Texas, USA Ann Arbor, Michigan, USA
			Rochester, New York, USA Salt Lake City, Utah, USA
Participants	44 children (22 boys, 22 girls) and their parents		254 (129 Males and 125 Females)
Age of Participants	Mean 10.34		5 to 18 Mean 10.65
Methods	Interviews Piers-Harris Self-Concept Scale Impact-On-Family Scale	Focus groups	National Health Survey Data(NHSD) Standardized Behaviour Checklists(SBC) Parent and Physician Measure Interview
Explanation of Methods	One-on-one, face-to-fact interviews were conducted with each participant; interviews were recorded PHSCS: assessing child self-esteem IOFS: assess how current functioning is affected by chronic illness	interviewed at a time; interviews	NHSD-health care utilization SBC-intensity of behavioural/emotional problems Parent/Physician Measure-health of children One-on-one face-to-face interviews recorded
Main conclusions	Families experienced fear of the future and multiple strains during the time their child was being treated for cancer	financial setbacks years after their	Siblings of children with cancer had a higher likelihood of developing risky behaviours and having poorer health than control siblings

Background Questionnaire: Late Effects Experienced by Adult Survivors of Pediatric <u>Cancer</u> Pediatric Cancer Survivor Background Ouestionnaire

Thank you for taking the time to participate in this study. The purpose of this questionnaire is to obtain background information regarding you and your experience with childhood cancer, as well as your current health status and lifestyle. All personal information obtained from this questionnaire will be kept confidential and you will not be identified personally from any reports, posters, or presentations resulting from this research. Participation in completing this questionnaire is voluntary and you may refrain from answering any questions with which you feel uncomfortable. Please fill out the information to the best of your ability.

Background Information

This section will ask for some of your basic information.

1. What is your date of birth? (MM/YYYY): _____

- 2. How do you self-identify in terms of gender?
 - □ Male
 - □ Female
 - □ Other (please specify): _____

3. How do you self-identify in terms of race or ethnicity?

- □ English
- □ French
- □ German
- □ Italian
- □ Scottish
- □ Irish
- □ Ukrainian
- □ Chinese
- □ Dutch
- \Box North American Indian
- \Box Jewish
- \Box Polish
- □ East Indian
- □ Portuguese
- □ Greek
- □ Canadian
- □ Other (please specify): _____

- 4. What is the highest level of education you have achieved?
 - \Box Less than secondary school graduation
 - □ Secondary school graduation
 - □ Some post-secondary
 - □ Post-secondary graduation
 - □ Other (please specify): _____
- 5. Are you currently a student?
 - 🛛 No
 - □ Yes

If yes, please specify what institution you attend, and what year and program you are in.

- 6. If you are not a student, what is your current occupation? If you do not have a current occupation, please write "N/A".
- 7. Was this occupation pathway determined in any way by your experience with pediatric cancer?
 - 🗆 No
 - □ Yes

If yes, how?

- 8. What is your current relationship status?
 - \Box Now married
 - □ Common-law
 - \Box Living with a partner
 - □ Single (never married)
 - □ Widowed
 - □ Separated
 - \Box Divorced
- 9. Do you have children? If yes, specify how many.
 - □ Yes: _____
 - 🗆 No

Pediatric Cancer Experience

This section will ask about being diagnosed with/undergoing pediatric cancer treatment. Please fill it out to the best of your ability.

10. What was your age at diagnosis?

11. What was your diagnosis?

12. What type of treatment did you receive, and how long were you in treatment? Please check all that apply.

Туре	Length
□ Chemotherapy	
□ Radiation Therapy	
□ Surgery	
□ Homeopathy and alternative medicine	
Organ Transplantation	
□ Other	

- 13. Would you consider yourself in remission?
 - □ No
 - □ Yes

If yes, for how long?

Family Demographics

This section will be asking you for information about your family members.

14. List all the people that you reside/resided with:

Before your cancer diagnosis	During your cancer treatment	Presently

- 15. Most children diagnosed with cancer are too young to take care of themselves while undergoing treatment. Due to this, children will often have a primary caregiver during this time. Who would you consider to be your *primary caregiver* while undergoing treatment? If there was more than one,0 please check them as well.
 - □ Mother
 - □ Father
 - □ Sibling
 - □ Aunt
 - □ Uncle
 - □ Grandmother
 - □ Grandfather
 - \Box Other (please specify): _

Life Post-Cancer

This section will be asking you about your life now, after your pediatric cancer experience. 16. Do you ever reflect upon your cancer experience?

- \square Daily
- □ Often (Weekly, Every Month)
- □ Sometimes (Every 2-3 Months)
- □ Rarely (Every 6 Months-1 Year)
- \Box Never
- 17. Do you currently have any negative effects from your cancer?(physical, cognitive, emotional, etc.). If there are more than what there is space available, please write on the back.

1.	·	 	
2	·		
5		 	
5	·	 	

- 18. Now that you are older and no longer require much of the care you needed while undergoing treatment, you may not necessarily need a primary caregiver(s). However, is/are there still (an) individual(s) that you rely on currently? If so, please specify.
 - \Box Mother
 - □ Father
 - □ Sibling
 - □ Aunt
 - \Box Uncle
 - □ Grandmother
 - \Box Grandfather
 - \Box Spouse
 - □ Partner
 - □ Other: _____

Thank you for taking the time to fill out this questionnaire. Your responses are appreciated.

Background Questionnaire-Late Effects Experienced by Adult Survivors of Pediatric <u>Cancer</u> Primary Support Person Background Questionnaire

Thank you for taking the time to participate in this study. The purpose of this questionnaire is to obtain background information regarding you and your relationship with the participant who underwent cancer treatment as a child. This questionnaire also aims to obtain information about any late effects that you have noticed the participant may be experiencing now as a result of their cancer treatment. Please fill out the information to the best of your ability.

Background Information

This section will ask for some of your basic information.

- 1. What is your date of birth? (MM/YYYY): _____
- 2. What is the highest level of education you have achieved?
 - □ Less than secondary school graduation
 - □ Secondary school graduation
 - □ Some post-secondary
 - □ Post-secondary graduation
 - □ Other (please specify): _____
- 3. Are you currently a student?
 - □ No
 - □ Yes

If yes, please specify what institution you attend, and what year and program you are in.

- 4. If you are not a student, what is your current occupation? If you do not have a current occupation, please write "N/A".
- 5. What is your current relationship status?
 - \Box Now married
 - □ Common-law
 - \Box Living with a partner
 - \Box Single (never married)
 - □ Widowed
 - □ Separated
 - □ Divorced

6. Do you have children? If yes, specify how many.

- □ Yes: _____
- □ No

7. How long have you known the individual who had cancer? _____

8. What is your relationship with the individual (ie. parent, spouse, significant other)?

Pediatric Cancer Experience

This section will address the time period when the cancer survivor was diagnosed with/undergoing pediatric cancer treatment. Please fill it out to the best of your ability.

9. What was his/her age at diagnosis?

10. What kind of treatment did (name) have?

Relationship Demographics

This section will be asking you for information about the relationship between you and the individual who had cancer.

- 11. Would you consider yourself a primary caregiver of him/her while he/she was undergoing pediatric cancer treatment?
 - \Box Yes
 - \square No

For either answer, please explain why.

- 12. How long have you and he/she been residing together?
 - \Box <6 months
 - \Box 6 months to 1 year
 - \Box 1 year to 2 years
 - \Box 2 years to 3 years
 - \square >3 years
 - \Box Do not reside together

13. In what ways are you providing support for the individual?

- □ Financial
- \Box Cognitive
- □ Emotional
- □ Physical
- □ Psychological
- \Box Social
- □ Other (please specify):_____

Thank you for taking the time to complete this questionnaire. Your responses are appreciated.

Interview Guide-Late Effects Experienced by Adult Survivors of Pediatric Cancer Pediatric Cancer Survivor Interview Guide

First, I'd like to thank you for agreeing to meet with me and discuss your past experience with pediatric cancer. The purpose of this research is to study the lived experience of adults of the late effects of pediatric cancer on adult survivors. To add to this experience, I will also be interviewing your current primary support person.

Some of these questions may bring up emotional memories and be difficult for you to answer. If at any instance you feel uncomfortable please let me know. If you need a break at any time please let me know and we will stop recording.

First, we are going to talk about you and some of your background information.

1. Please tell me about yourself.

Refer to background questionnaire. Probes:

- □ Upbringing/Family Structure
- □ Hobbies/Interests

2. Can you tell me about your current primary support person?

Refer to background questionnaire. Probes:

- □ Relationship with person
- □ Why do you consider him/her your support person?
- □ How long have you known him/her?
- □ Were they a support person for you while you were undergoing cancer treatment? If not, why?

Now, we're going to talk about your past experience with pediatric cancer.

3. What do you remember about your experience with childhood cancer?

Refer to background questionnaire. Probes:

- □ Diagnosis, treatment, side effects
- □ Family life during that time period; relationships
- □ Strongest memory from your cancer diagnosis/treatment?
- □ Feelings about self
- □ Effect on family members and friends?

4. Is there anything else you would like to tell me about the time period in which you were experiencing pediatric cancer?

We're now going to talk about your current life post-cancer.

- 5. Do you still see a specialist or your oncologist for any follow-up?
 - \Box If yes, how often?
 - \Box What for?
 - □ Do you experience any stress when preparing for these appointments?

6. If you had to rate your current overall health (excellent, good, fair, poor) what would you rank it?

Probes:

- \Box How do you feel in general?
- □ Are there any health issues you are concerned about (pain, etc.)?

After undergoing cancer diagnosis and treatment, there is potential for a variety of different late effects to be experienced, including physical, mental, emotional, and social effects. We're going to discuss some of these and whether you believe there are any effects you are experiencing – either positive or negative.

7. Do you think there are any milestones/health conditions that you reached later than your peers as a result of your cancer?

Probes:

- \Box Delayed puberty
- \Box Stunted growth
- □ Maturity levels
- \Box Milestones such as marriage, going to school, finding a career, etc.

8. Are there any health effects that you are currently experiencing that were diagnosed by a doctor that are attributed to your experience with childhood cancer?

Refer to background questionnaire. Probes:

- \Box Anything in the area that was treated?
- □ Were you warned of any potential physical health effects when you completed treatment?
- □ How do you feel mentally?
- □ Depressed, happy, anxious, etc.
- □ How would you compare your anxiety levels to your peers?

9. Would you say that experiencing pediatric cancer has changed any aspect of your life? Probes:

- \Box Career aspirations
- □ Personality traits
- □ Relationships
- □ Extracurriculars/volunteer organizations
- \Box Morals and values
- □ Perspective on life
- □ Coping mechanisms, stress habits positive/negative
- □ Positive/Negative

10. Do you believe that you approach social situations and relationships differently than your peers in your age group?

Refer to background questionnaire. Probes:

- \Box Can this be attributed to your cancer experience?
- □ Differing levels of maturity
- □ Wanting to take life slow/fast
- □ Need/want to be in a romantic relationship
- \Box Need/want to have children

11. Some people use the word "survivor" to describe living with cancer. What does the term survivor mean to you?

- □ Do you consider yourself a survivor?
- \Box Why/why not?

12. What is something that you would tell an individual who has been diagnosed with pediatric cancer?

Probes

- \Box Why would you say this?
- □ Are there certain aspects that you would emphasize?

13. What is one piece of advice you would give to those currently undergoing pediatric cancer treatment or who are currently an older adult?

14. Is there anything else you would like to tell me about your life now as a result of your experience with childhood cancer?

15. Is there anything that you would like to ask me?

Thank you for taking the time to participate in this study.

Interview Guide: Late Effects Experienced by Adult Survivors of Pediatric Cancer Primary Support Person Interview Guide

First, I'd like to thank you for agreeing to meet with me and discuss your experiences with the individual who had cancer. The purpose of this research is to study the lived experience of the late effects of pediatric cancer on adult survivors.

Some of these questions may bring up emotional memories and be difficult for you to answer. If at any instance you feel uncomfortable please let me know. If you need a break at any time please let me know and we will stop recording.

First, we are going to talk about you and some of your background information.

1. Please tell me about yourself.

Refer to background questionnaire. Probes:

- □ Upbringing/Family Structure
- □ Hobbies/Interests

2. Can you tell me about (name) currently?

Refer to background questionnaire. Probes:

- \Box Age
- \Box Occupation
- □ Education
- □ Past experience with cancer
- □ Upbringing/Family Structure
- □ Hobbies/Interests
- □ How long have you known (name)?
- □ Do you and the diagnosed individual reside together?

3. Why do you believe he/she identified you as their primary support person? Probes:

- □ Based on relationship
- \Box Length of time knowing each other
- □ Frequency of time spent together
- □ Were you a support person while they were undergoing cancer treatment?

4. In what way are you a support person to him/her currently? Probes:

- \Box Physical needs
- □ Mental/Emotional needs
- □ Psychological needs
- □ Other

5. Has your life been affected in any way by being (name)'s primary support person or because of his/her experience with cancer? If yes, how?

Refer to background questionnaire. Probes:

- □ Positives
- □ Negatives

6. If you had to rank your current overall health (excellent, good, fair, poor) what would you rank it?

Probes:

- \Box Why did you choose this ranking?
- □ Is there anything in particular that is causing you pain/issues/etc.?

7. How would you rank (name)'s current overall health (excellent, good, fair, poor)? Refer to background questionnaire. Probes:

- □ How do you think they feel in general?
- □ Is there anything in particular that may be causing them pain/issues/etc.?
- □ Is there something they may have that you believe they are downplaying, or looking into too heavily?

8. Do you believe there may be any milestones or health conditions that (name) experienced/reached later than their peers?

Refer to background questionnaire. Probes:

- □ Growth
- □ Puberty
- □ Maturity
- \Box Emotional health
- \Box Milestones such as marriage, going to school, finding a career, etc.

9. How would you describe (name)'s approach to relationships with others? Refer to background questionnaire. Probes:

- \Box More/less trusting than others
- □ Takes longer/shorter time to build rapport/relationships
- □ Takes longer/shorter time to build trust
- \Box Other factors that may not be comparable to the population

10. Are there any health effects that he/she may currently experience that could be attributed to their experience with childhood cancer?

Refer to background questionnaire. Probes:

- \Box Anything in the area that was treated?
- □ Have any effects been diagnosed by a doctor/physician?
- □ Was he/she warned of any potential physical health effects when he/she completed treatment?
- □ How do you believe they feel mentally?
- □ Depressed, happy, anxious, etc.
- □ How would you compare their anxiety levels to their peers?

11. Do you consider (name) to be a pediatric cancer survivor? Probes:

- \Box Why/why not?
- \Box What does the term survivor mean to you?

12. Do you think that experiencing pediatric cancer had changed any aspect of his/her life? Probes:

- \Box Career aspirations
- □ Personality traits; self-confidence, esteem
- □ Relationships
- Extracurriculars/Volunteer organizations
- \Box Morals and values
- □ Perspective on life
- □ Lifestyle behaviours
- □ Coping mechanisms, stress
- 13. Is there anything you would like to ask me?

Thank you for taking the time to participate in this study.

Appendix D Addressing Research Questions by Interview Questions: Pediatric Cancer Survivors

			Research Questions	
		How has having pediatric cancer influenced who you are today?	How do you identify with respect to your experience with pediatric cancer?	In being a support person, how has caring for someone who had pediatric cancer influenced who you are today?
pu (ediatric Cancer Survivor nterview Guide	 6. If you had to rate your current overall health (excellent, good, fair, poor) what would you rank it? 7. Do you think there are any milestones/health conditions that you reached later than your peers? 8. Are there any health effects that you are currently experiencing that were diagnosed by a doctor that are attributed to your experience with childhood cancer? 9. Would you say that experiencing pediatric cancer has changed any aspect of your life? 10. Do you believe that you approach social situations and relationships differently than your peers in your age group? 	 11. Some people use the word "survivor" to describe living with cancer. What does the term survivor mean to you? 12. What is something that you would tell an individual who has been diagnosed with pediatric cancer? 13. What is one piece of advice you would give to those currently undergoing pediatric cancer treatment or who are currently an older adult? 	N/A

Research Ouestions How has having pediatric cancer How do you identify In being a support person, how influenced who you are today? with respect to your has caring for someone who experience with had pediatric cancer pediatric cancer? influenced who you are today? 7. How would you rank (name)'s 5. Has your life been affected 11. Do you consider current overall health (excellent, in any way by being (name)'s (name) to be a Interview Guides and Question Numbers good, fair, poor)? pediatric cancer primary support person or 8. Do you believe there may be any survivor? because of his/his experience milestones or health conditions that with cancer? If yes, how? (name) experienced/reached later 6. If you had to rank your than their peers? current overall health Primary Support 9. How would you describe (excellent, good, fair, poor) Person (name)'s approach to relationships what would you rank it? Interview Guide with others? 10. Are there any health effects that he/she may currently experience that could be attributed to their experience with childhood cancer? 12. Do you think that experiencing pediatric cancer had changed any aspect of his/her life?

Appendix E Addressing Research Questions by Interview Questions: Primary Support Persons

Appendix F Addressing Research Questions and Interview Questions by Theme: Pediatric Cancer Survivors

			Research Questions	
		How has having pediatric cancer influenced who you are today?	How do you identify with respect to your experience with pediatric cancer?	In being a support person, how has caring for someone who had pediatric cancer influenced who you are today?
Interview Guides and Question Numbers	Pediatric Cancer Survivor Interview Guide	 6. If you had to rate your current overall health (excellent, good, fair, poor) what would you rank it? Theme #1, 2 7. Do you think there are any milestones/health conditions that you reached later than your peers? Theme #1, 2 8. Are there any health effects that you are currently experiencing that were diagnosed by a doctor that are attributed to your experience with childhood cancer? Theme #2 9. Would you say that experiencing pediatric cancer has changed any aspect of your life? Theme #1, 2, 3 10. Do you believe that you approach social situations and relationships differently than your peers in your age group? Theme #2, 3 	11. Some people use the word "survivor" to describe living with cancer. What does the term survivor mean to you? Theme #2 12. What is something that you would tell an individual who has been diagnosed with pediatric cancer? Theme #3 13.What is one piece of advice you would give to those currently undergoing pediatric cancer treatment or who are currently an older adult? Theme #3	N/A

			Research Questions	
		How has having pediatric cancer influenced who you are today?	How do you identify with respect to your experience with pediatric cancer?	In being a support person, how has caring for someone who had pediatric cancer influenced who you are today?
Person	ry Support I Interview Guide	 7. How would you rank (name)'s current overall health (excellent, good, fair, poor)? Theme #1, 2 8. Do you believe there may be any milestones or health conditions that (name) experienced/reached later than their peers? Theme #1, 2 9. How would you describe (name)'s approach to relationships with others? Theme #2, 3 10. Are there any health effects that he/she may currently experience that could be attributed to their experience with childhood cancer? Theme #1, 2 12. Do you think that experiencing pediatric cancer had changed any aspect of his/her life? Theme #1, 2, 3 	11. Do you consider (name) to be a pediatric cancer survivor? Theme #2	 5. Has your life been affected in any way by being (name)'s primary support person or because of his/his experience with cancer? If yes, how? Theme #4 6. If you had to rank your current overall health (excellent, good, fair, poor) what would you rank it? Theme #4

Appendix G Addressing Research Questions and Interview Questions by Theme: Primary Support Persons